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Our Mission is to multiply Christ-centered
churches to see the people of BC transformed

by the good news of Jesus Christ
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Convention Agenda
BCMB Convention 2017

Friday, April 28, 2017
5:00 PM Convention Registration Opens (Exhibits Open)
6:00 PM Celebration Banquet – hosted by BCMB 

Worship Celebration and stories of faith
Inspiration – Rob Thiessen
Prayer 
Offering & Closing (Camper bursaries)

Saturday, April 29, 2017
8:00 AM Continental Breakfast in Cafeteria
8:30 AM Welcome & Greeting

Prayer & Worship
Developing Leaders
• Conference Minister (Evangelism)
• Columbia Bible College
• Mennonite Brethren Biblical Seminary (MBBS)

COFFEE Break  (in Foyer) – Exhibits Open 

10:45 AM    Multiplying Churches
• MB Mission
• Camp Ministries
• CCMBC/C2C National

12:30 PM LUNCH – Exhibits Open

1:30 PM Building Community
• Pastoral Ministries Committee
• Leaders 2 Learners (L2L)

Resourcing Churches
• Moderator Report
• Recommendations & Nominations
• Management Committee

Closing Remarks
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Welcome
From CBC

Welcome to the 2017 BCMB Annual Convention, and a special 
welcome to Columbia Bible College!

In recent years, our vision at Columbia has been to inspire and equip 
our students to live lives that are “Christ-centered, Kingdom-focused, 
and world-impacting.” In our fragmented, media-saturated culture, it’s 
so easy for us to lose sight of what Jesus asks us to seek first. That’s 
why I’m so pleased that the theme of this year’s convention is “All We 
Need in Christ.” May we, together, be encouraged and challenged 
afresh to fix our eyes on Jesus and draw our wisdom and strength from 
Him.

If this is your first visit to Columbia, I hope you’ll enjoy exploring our 
campus. Classes have ended for this academic year, but many of our 
hospitality staff are students. Feel free to say hello and ask questions. 
Each has a unique story to tell!

In Christ,

Bryan Born 
President
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Church Story
BCMB Convention 2017

Sharing New Hope in Christ 
– Revitalizing a Transitioning 
Neighborhood and an Old 

Church Building
New Hope Church is located in a transitional 
community bordering North Delta, Newton and 
Whalley. It’s a diverse community with great 
opportunities to share Christ to people on the 
margins of society, middle class people, as well as 
recent immigrants and people of many ethnicities. 
There are many challenges as well…yesterday, as 
I arrived at in the church parking lot, police tape 
was around the apartment complex adjacent to our 
building and police officers were busy. One officer 
came into the church before the service to ask 
if I knew any details about the shooting that had 
occurred there last night. This is the second gun 
incident in that apartment complex in the last few 
months, in addition to a lot of drug activity as well. 
Through some efforts by our church administrator 
in connecting with the local police and getting them 
to patrol our parking lot, there are no longer nightly 
drug deals happening on our church property. 

July 19th, as I rode my motorcycle up to the 
church for my first day at work, I was followed 
by a police car. It seemed strange to me that he 
just wanted to chat about my year and model 
of motorbike – super friendly. It was later in 
the day that our church administrator said “I 
got a text from the police asking “Who’s the 
yahoo that rode up on the motorcycle?” She 
texed back “He’s OK – he’s our new pastor!” 
There are rougher neighborhoods than where our 
church building is located, but our church sign 
gets tagged repeatedly by neighborhood youth. A 
couple of weeks ago, a seriously inebriated man 
walking by the building tried to join the discussion 
in our Alpha group. He was very disruptive, yelling 
out random phrases and we had to usher him out. 
I was glad he didn’t begin to throw chairs like he 
did a few months ago at the AA group that meets 
in our church gym. I was also glad to see him 
come for the first time to our Sunday service two 
weeks ago, and assure me that he hadn’t been 
drinking and wouldn’t disrupt the service. Tragically, 
our church is also known as the go-to place for 
funerals for men who overdose on fentanyl. Every 
week, people who struggle with addictions come to 
our church on Thursday mornings to receive free 
bread. We sit and have coffee together.
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Our church started in 1944 as Strawberry Hills 
Mennonite Brethren. It was known as the little 
'chapel in the woods'. Then the housing boom 
came in the ‘50’s and 60’s and more ethnic 
Mennonite people moved in. It became Kennedy 
Heights MB, and a new building was constructed 
in 1969. It had some booming years of ministry 
and then struggled and closed its doors in 2001. 
The neighborhood was changing to a majority 
non-Caucasian demographic. Cost of housing was 
going through the roof and many young families 
began moving further out to places like Langley 
and Abbotsford. Then, the church congregation 
was resurrected again in 2003 as New Hope 
Christian Church. The old 1969 building still stands 
but has shown its age, along with many buildings 
in the area that look well past their glory years. As 
an elder team about 6 months ago, we felt that this 
old building was an incredible asset to ministry, but 
needed to communicate a “new hope for the future” 
rather than an “old hope that is no longer relevant 
and died in the past”. The building needed to 
communicate who we are as a congregation – not 
a dusty old crumbling thing of the past, but a lively, 
hope-filled, vibrant, relevant, and dynamic place 

where all are welcome and all can come to find all 
they need in Christ. We have begun a renovation 
process. We want this space to be a place of 
hospitality, warmth, respite and a sanctuary from 
the hard scrabble challenges of life, where people 
can relax and connect with God and each other. 
We have fundraised and have been blessed by 
generous donors, both inside and outside the 
church, and have transformed large parts of the 
church into fresh places of warmth and hospitality.

One area that was stacked full of junk and used 
for storage was cleaned out, given new floors, 
carpeted, and painted. Now, with some brand new 
donated furniture, it has become our prayer room! 
We want to prioritize prayer. The lobby area 
of the church was cramped and the floors were 
literally crumbling and heaving. It did not create a 
good first impression as a place to hang out. We 
have poured new cement, recovered the floors with 
vinyl, and added a couch sitting area. We opened 
up a wall in the front lobby to create a café area so 
that we can enjoy coffee with the people from the 
neighborhood who come for our Thursday bread 
program, as well as those who stop by throughout 
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the week for assistance and counselling. We put 
a big screen TV in the café area so that we can 
show Alpha videos. The church has had a thriving 
Awana program for years, and unchurched families 
would drop their kids off in the lobby and come pick 
them up after the program. We recently invited the 
parents to stay during Awana, and enjoy appies 
and dessert in the new cafe as they do the Alpha 
course. We are halfway through our first course 
and celebrated as two of the participants followed 
Christ in baptism last month! 

We look forward to continuing to connect the 
message of Jesus with our community. We have a 
great new/old facility to invite them to, some warm 
hospitality to extend, and more opportunities to 
talk about Jesus. What has been a good traffic 

flow of people from the neighborhood coming and 
receiving hope, is now growing steadily. Heaven is 
going to be a place where people of every nation 
and background are welcomed – we want New 
Hope to show heaven on earth. A few weeks ago, 
we welcomed a group of people into membership. 
It occurred to me, after we heard each person 
share their favorite verse, that in that group of 13 
people: two people had immigrated from Hong 
Kong, one from Mexico, one from Zambia, and 
two from China. In our little congregation, we 
also have people who have immigrated from St 
Kitts, Paraguay, Bahamas, Philippines, Turkey, 
Romania, Portugal and India. It doesn’t take long 
before you don’t see race or socio-economic 
background - you just see the One….that is, 
The One where we find all we need – Christ. 
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Moderator report
BCMB Convention 2017

Thank you for taking the time to be a part of “BCMB 
Convention 2017: All We Need In Christ”.  I trust 
that as we have opportunity to share how we 
have seen God at work in this past year and look 
forward to what we anticipate on the road ahead, 
you will find yourself being encouraged, inspired, 
challenged and drawn into a deeper level of 
engagement in who we are as a family of churches 
in British Columbia.  

It’s an absolute delight for me to serve together 
with the entire BCMB Executive Board.  This is, 
without question, a dedicated group of engaged 
and invested leaders; a fact which is evident to me 
every time we meet.  This is a group of men and 
women concerned to steward well the trust they 
have been given for our family of churches across 
the province.  I commend them to you and ask that 
you would remember to uphold the board in prayer, 
asking God to give us ears to hear and courage to 
be obedient in all God asks of us.  

One of the joys in serving on the Executive Board, 
is the regular interaction I get to have with our staff 
members.  Rob, Ron and Denis are a fantastic 
team in carrying out conference work across the 
province.  The mix of gifts, skills, and areas of 
passion are so highly complementary amongst the 
three of them and I believe that serves us well in 
the broad range of challenges and opportunities 
that present themselves to the provincial office.  
Add to that the amazing and highly gifted team in 
the office that works in support of them, I have high 
regard for what we will be able to accomplish as we 
look to the season ahead of us.  

Many of the issues that the board has given oversight 
to throughout this past year are dealt with in greater 
detail in other reports in this booklet, so I won’t 
belabour them.  In this brief report, let me simply 
highlight one issue looking back at the past year, two 
issues looking forward to the year ahead, and then 
offer a word of thanks to all our constituents.  

Looking back: At last convention, the delegates 
approved a new structure for camps, and this has 
resulted in the greatest area of sustained work for 
the Executive Board over the past 12 months.  The 

implementation of these changes has taken much 
time, conversation and energy, but we believe it 
has been essential work.  Our camping ministry 
is a treasure, and we believe that the significant 
attention given to this ministry arm by the board this 
past year has been a solid investment in ensuring it 
remain a healthy and viable ministry arm of BCMB 
for years to come.

Looking forward:  As we move into the ministry 
season ahead of us, one of the areas we will be 
monitoring more closely as a board has to do with 
the financial participation in our conference by 
our member churches.  Recently, we have noted 
some churches are scaling back their financial 
contributions for various reasons.  Others have 
not financially participated for a number of years.  
While we recognize that sometimes unforeseen 
circumstances create unique pressures for a local 
church, reduced levels of financial participation with 
the provincial board negatively impacts our ability, 
as a family of churches, to forward the appropriate 
funds to ministries we partner together in, such 
as CBC, camps, C2C, etc.  We believe that all of 
these ministries play critically important roles within 
our family of churches, and therefore the board has 
asked our staff team to give additional attention the 
issue of funding from local churches, and we will be 
appropriately monitoring those efforts.      

Looking forward, we are also paying close attention 
to what is happening at a national level.  We 
know that the CCMBC Executive Board is hard 
at work discerning what God is doing in this new 
season for them, and what that means in terms of 
delivery of the ministries and services that have 
traditionally been delivered out of the national 
office.  As a provincial leadership team, we intend 
to stay closely connected to that process in order to 
appropriately respond to any developments which 
may have impact for our churches in BC.   

A word of thanks:  I want to express my sincere 
gratitude to all our constituents, who are the 
redeemed people of God; the living stones in 
the church that Jesus promised He would build.  
Thank you for serving tirelessly, giving generously, 
loving freely, praying courageously and holding 
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Management Comittee Report
Leonard Klassen

to truth fervently, as you participate in your local 
expression of the bride of Christ.  All that we do 
as a conference, from administrative services, 
training opportunities, theological watchcare, 
shared ministry opportunities … you name it, it 
exists to serve the church as the church is engaged 
in living out the mission of God in our world.  We 
don’t ever want to be so presumptuous as to think 
that we could come up with something better than 
Jesus himself did in regards to how the good news 
would be declared and lived out, and how people 
be discipled in following after Him.  Jesus didn’t 
promise to build a denominational infrastructure, 
He promised to build His church.  Therefore, our 
commitment as a board in all we do is to leverage 

our infrastructure and systems in order to serve 
the bride of Christ, as expressed in BC through the 
Mennonite Brethren family, as best we can.  If there 
are ways in which your church feels we can do 
that with greater strength and impact, please don’t 
hesitate to be in touch.  

As we look to the year in front of us, let’s walk 
forward with great courage!  God is at work, and 
our world is ripe with opportunities for the church to 
lift Jesus high.  So “let us not grow weary of doing 
good, for in due season we will reap, if we do not 
give up” Galatians 6:9.

Matt Ewert 
Interim Moderator

In preparing to write the 2017 annual report on 
behalf of the Management Committee, I decided 
to read the report submitted a year ago. Yet again, 
God has been faithful. His wonderful promise holds 
true today, as it did when the prophet Jeremiah 
wrote these words we read in Lamentations 3. 
In this past year, we experienced challenges, 
surprises, and even some hardships. Yet through it 
all, God has provided exactly what we needed. 

A major area where Management Committee 
focused its attention was in giving support and 
input to the BCMB staff in implementing the new 
BCMB Bible Camp Society. As per the direction of 
the BCMB constituency at last year’s convention, a 
new society was established to bring governance 
stability and to reduce liability to your camps. The 
hope is that the society will offer a cohesive effort 
to continue to be one of the most effective tools 
that we have as churches to effect evangelism, 
discipleship, and leadership training in our camps. 

“The steadfast love of the Lord never ceases; his mercies 
never come to an end; they are new every morning; great 

is your faithfulness” - Lamentations 3:22-23

The Management Committee also spent 
considerable time in re-negotiating a new insurance 
policy for our churches. In an ever-changing 
landscape and increasingly complex society in 
which our churches exist, it is important to ensure 
they have appropriate levels of coverage to mitigate 
liability in their ministry activities. We are thankful 
to have Johnston Meier partner with our BCMB 
churches to ensure they can focus their attention 
on creating opportunities to proclaim the gospel 
of Jesus Christ without having to worry about the 
appropriate coverage. 

Another significant shift this past year, was moving 
our operations and offices to Columbia Bible 
College. Although this was an unexpected and 
unplanned move, we are thankful that God brought 
us back to the place where BCMB used to be. We 
are also thankful for the CBC leadership and staff 
for making it possible for us to be on campus. We 
look forward to engaging with students and staff as 
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we partner in preparing our future leaders to serve 
in our churches. 

This past year also brought changes to our staff. 
Sandy Friesen, our bookkeeper for the past four 
years, has decided to seek other opportunities. 
We are thankful for her service and dedication 
in ensuring that our financial operations were in 
keeping with the best accounting principles. She 
has left us with a set of well-organized books 
and systems that will ensure continued clear and 
responsible fiduciary operations. 

As in past years, the Management Committee had 
the privilege to walk with several of our churches 
this year who requested a loan to either purchase 
new property or renovate their existing structures. It 
is a blessing to walk with our churches and to see 
their vision and passion to reach their community 
with the good news of Jesus. 

Lastly, and perhaps most importantly, this year has 
brought us some unanticipated challenges to meet 
our financial commitments to our ministry partners, 
Columbia Bible College, C2C, and Camps BC.  
We are committed to these ministries, and trust 

that God will continue to provide the necessary 
funds. However, this situation highlights the need 
to engage more with all of our churches to ensure 
that we continue to hold a shared vision to equip 
our churches with necessary resources so they 
can expand Christ’s kingdom through kids’ camps, 
training future leaders biblically and theologically, 
and planting more churches. To this end, we will 
commit to sending regular letters to our churches, 
updating them on how much they have given, 
year-to-date, so they are aware of their overall 
contribution. We have a financial commitment 
together!

As we look forward, I close with the same hope and 
confidence that the prophet Jeremiah had in God. 
He is indeed faithful and his mercies are new each 
morning! We anticipate great things for 2017. 

On behalf of the Management Committee

Leonard Klassen
Chair of Management Committee 
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Conference Minister Report
Rob Thiessen

“For in Christ all the fullness of the Diety lives in 
bodily form, and you have been given fullness 
in Christ, who is the head over every power 
and authority” Colossians 2:9-10 This profound 
mystery expressed in our theme, “All We Need in 
Christ” is a message directly relevant to the BCMB 
family in the coming year. We are today, that body 
of Christ which embodies the very presence of 
God in our cities and towns across this province. 
The mission of God to restore lost men women 
and children to right relationship with Himself 
and with others, can only be carried forward by a 
church that knows what it is to be “in Christ.” To 
the measure that we as BCMB churches remain 
“in Christ,” we will have the power, the knowledge, 
the wisdom and the grace to accomplish all that 
God has prepared for us to do.

SPIRIT EMPOWERED MISSION
God has been incredibly faithful to us over the 
past twelve months as we have worked together 
on mission empowered by His Spirit. Last May, 
our pastors experienced a very special retreat in 
Whistler with Luis and Pat Palau. This active and 
Spirit-filled couple overflowed with love for God, for 
his word and for us as Mennonite Brethren pastors. 
Luis has called me personally, several times this 
past year, to ask how our churches are doing and 
to encourage us with His conviction that God has 

his hand on our BCMB churches for bringing revival 
to the body of Christ in Canada. Luis expressed 
that vision with great passion at C2C’s Multipy 
Conference, where over 800 pastors and leaders 
from across Canada and North America gathered 
at our Westside Church. Our retreats continue to be 
powerful times of healing and bonding in our BCMB 
leadership community.  

I believe that a fresh call for evangelism in our 
BCMB family was given to us through brother 
Palau. Our Pastors Equipping Day before 
convention included training by Luis Palau on how 
pastors can preach more effectively for decisions. 
A number of our pastors implemented what they 
had learned in the following weeks, and people 
responded in a number of our churches to a clear 
presentation of the gospel followed by an invitation 
to come and receive Christ. Other churches 
renewed their commitment to utilize Alpha to 
present the gospel

The past year has seen a number of transitions 
happening in our churches, and it has been a 
privilege for the BCMB staff to come alongside 
elders and pastoral teams to give support and 
guidance. God has blessed our province with a 
number of excellent transitional leaders and our 
churches have welcomed this more intentional 
response to the exit of a lead or senior pastor.
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NEW MODELS
We are especially grateful for a new chapter 
emerging at the location of the former Hyde 
Creek Community Church in Coquitlam. This 
congregation felt that they could best honour 
God and serve the mission by inviting Northview 
church to adopt and restart the ministry at Hyde 
Creek as a campus of Northview. BCMB Executive 
Board approved the transition to Northview and 
eventually two other churches, Westside and Cross 
Ridge, also joined the partnership to assist in a 
completely new venture in Coquitlam. Launching 
in September 2017, this will be the second such 
replant involving Northview that we have seen in 
the past few years and it is a huge blessing. In both 
cases, congregations in crises are offered a new 
lease on life, with new leadership, fresh vision and 
strong resources. Instead of a church closure, we 

are looking at a new and vital ministry with great 
potential. Praise God for Northview and partners!

2016 has brought important governance changes 
to our camps BC ministries. At our Main Street 
convention last April, we approved a new structure 
and, over the past year, Ron van Akker and Denis 
Federau have logged thousands of kilometers and 
many days meeting with camp staff and boards 
to implement these changes. We are confident 
that these new structures will help to preserve 
the ministry of our camps as places where all 
generations and especially children and youth, 
can encounter Christ in the context of nature and 
adventure. We are very pleased that through 
generous donations, we have been able to restore 
the financial viability of the Pines Camp and place 
it under the able leadership of Riley Heppner. We 
anticipate another year of reaching hundreds of 
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kids in South East BC.  You can read of God’s work 
through all our Camps in their individual reports 
further on in this booklet.

NEW NATIONAL CHAPTER
Another major transition for our BCMB family began 
to unfold in November of 2016. Willy Reimer’s 
sudden and unexpected dismissal as our executive 
director has created an entirely fresh conversation 
on how our provincial MB communities might work 
together. Willy was instrumental in bringing us to 
a common table and rebuilding trust among our 
leaders across Canada. I am hopeful that this 
foundation of trust will support greater collaboration 
and true partnership as we move forward.

The new proposed merger of the C2C network 
under MB mission presents an opportunity to rethink 
how we, as BCMB churches, will work together. 
Over the past year, the BCMB office has initiated 
discussions with the ministry staff of C2C, MB 
mission, L2L, CBC, and MB seminary. Our goal is to 
ensure that we are truly serving churches effectively 
and with a minimum of overlap. With ministries 
discussing mergers plans, a new era seems to be 
opening up for us to align our efforts purposefully 
and develop a unified plan to support and encourage 
our churches in effective mission. We want to see 
the people of our province and nation transformed 
by Christ through the power of the gospel 
proclaimed and lived through the local church. 

The potential of local churches utilizing short term 
missions, higher education, camping experience 
etc. to develop future leaders for church planting, 
pastoral work and cross cultural mission both in 
Canada and overseas, is very exciting. Of course, 
these partnerships have been happening in a 
wonderful and Spirit led fashion over the past 
years, but we believe that God is preparing to 
multiply our effectiveness through greater unity and 
common focus.

WHAT TO WATCH
Across the province, churches are looking to clarify 
and strengthen their discipleship focus. The great 
commission tells us to make disciples as we go, 

but somehow we get busy doing many good things 
in ministry and neglect the one thing Jesus asked 
us to be about. We want to see our young people 
grounded in Christ and ready to defend the gospel 
among their peers. We want to see resources 
released through sacrificial giving. We want to see 
leaders equipped to serve the church and plant 
new congregations. All these dreams depend on 
effective discipleship and equipping through our 
local churches. At Multiply 2017, pastor Jim Putnam 
challenged leaders to align all ministry in the local 
church toward discipleship and to eliminate what is 
peripheral to that purpose. Dr. Darrell Johnson will 
be helping us preach for discipleship at our Pastors 
Equipping Day and this November MBs from 
across Canada will gather at Northview for 3 days 
at Equip 2017, to discern together how we might be 
more effective in Disciple-making. 

Discipleship also means being equipped to 
effectively communicate the Gospel in our culture, 
and in this vein, Northview continues to host the 
Apologetics Canada conference annually in March. 
This fall, Willow Park will be launching the Pursuit 
School of Evangelism to equip those gifted and 
called as evangelists in the context of the local 
church. Pastor Phil Collins and the team at Willow 
Park have a vision to train men and women in 
the context of a local church to activate the local 
church in evangelism. This will be a totally unique 
and vitally important ministry to the church in BC, in 
Canada, and around the world. BCMB is partnering 
financially with Willow Park because we believe this 
school will empower our local churches in effective 
evangelism. Please pray for the Pursuit School of 
Evangelism and consider sending people from your 
community who are passionate to share the gospel. 

As we move into this coming year and gather at 
convention under the theme “All we need in Christ.” 
Please open your heart, and engage fully in what 
God is doing in and through this BCMB family. Ask 
the Lord how you as an individual leader, and how 
your church community can embrace the wider 
BCMB family so that together we can bring glory 
to God as we reach out to our province and nation 
with the Gospel.

Rob Thiessen
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Common Understandings
BCMB Convention 2017

Preamble: This statement describes the ethos and 
priorities that we as Mennonite Brethren churches 
in British Columbia share and to which we aspire. 
It is intended to encourage, guide and inspire one 
another to greater faithfulness and effectiveness, 
and promote understanding for those who are 
new to our fellowship. Our Mennonite Brethren 
Confession of Faith remains the authorized and 
comprehensive doctrinal foundation upon which 
these understandings are built. 

1. Jesus at the Centre of Everything  
(Colossians 1:17)

We see ourselves first and foremost as followers 
of Jesus Christ. We are a people redeemed and 
justified by Christ’s atoning death and victorious 
resurrection. We now seek to put His life and 
teaching at the centre of our lives as we:

• read the Bible, illuminated by Jesus’ life and work
• discern our ethics through the lens of Jesus’ 

example
• worship God, radiantly revealed in Jesus Christ
• experience community created by Jesus’ 

indwelling Spirit
• live out God’s gospel mission with Jesus’ 

authority and power

2. Preaching and Discipleship shaped by 
Scripture (Psalm 119:105, 2 Timothy 3:16-17, 4:2)

God’s Word, the Bible, is our functional and final 
authority for faith and life. We read, understand 
and obey the Bible in the context of community. We 
value both the ministry of preaching and teaching 
the scripture, as well as the participation of each 
member of the community as we search the 
scriptures to discern God’s will and leading together.  
Our churches place a high value on equipping 
people to think biblically about our world.

3. Community formed by the Holy Spirit (John 
16, 1 Corinthians 12, Galatians 5)

Our common experience of the living Spirit of Jesus 
filling our lives, and our gatherings, generates the 

holy character of Jesus within us and motivates us 
to live lives of worship and mission.  Our prayer life 
is an essential link by which the Lordship of Christ 
and leading of the Spirit is cultivated. The gifts and 
fruit of the Spirit at work in our lives build up the 
church, empower us in mission and allow us to live 
in gracious accountability. 

4. A Church that is on Mission (Genesis 12:1-3, 
Matthew 28:18-20, Acts 1:8)

God, who came into this world to seek and to save 
the lost and to set the captives free, is now sending 
His people out with the same mission.  Through 
prayer we receive power and guidance to participate 
in God’s redemptive mission. Both locally and 
globally, we empower and support one another to 
preach and live the gospel of Jesus Christ. 

5. A Church that Reflects Jesus Transforming 
Life (1 Peter 2, John 13:14)

Following Jesus means we practice justice, 
generosity and peace-making in our relationships 
and in our community engagement.  Our allegiance 
to the Kingdom of God commissions us to live 
selflessly, as visible reminders of God’s love and 
goodness, and to seek the peace and well-being 
of our society.  We glorify God by being creative 
and careful stewards of culture, by speaking 
prophetically against idolatry and by enduring the 
persecution and sacrifice to which Christ calls us.

6. A Church that Serves in an Atmosphere 
of Cooperation and Accountability (Hebrews 
10:25, Philippians 2:2)

Our collective commitment is that each church will 
give expression to these common understandings 
in a culturally relevant manner and will seek to 
remain supportive and engaged with the wider 
Mennonite Brethren family and its ministries.  
Belonging to this family includes affirming our 
Confession of Faith, pastoral credentialing, and 
engaging Mennonite Brethren agencies and 
ministries with financial support and participation. 
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Executive Conference Minister’s Report 
Ron van Akker

This past year has been one of challenge and 
change. That said, it has been a rewarding 
season of watching God work, and of seeing lives 
transformed. As a collective of churches, we are 
indeed God’s workmanship working together to 
accomplish all that He has prepared in advance 
for us to accomplish. This report will outline the 
work that God has been doing in and through our 
churches and camps. 

This past year, I had the distinct privilege of 
serving on a Task Force struck to assist Whistler 
Community Church with leadership development. It 
has been exciting to participate and observe God at 
work in the hearts and minds of the leaders of this 
church, who are determined to be a strong Gospel 
presence in a community where many do not know 
Jesus. This burgeoning church is determined to 
make an impact for the Kingdom through practical 
acts of service in and to their community. They 
have experienced God’s faithfulness as individuals 
have come to Christ, while others have leaned-in to 
become part of this unique family. 

I am grateful for the addition of Denis Federau, who 
serves as the Director of Ministry Resources on 
the BCMB team. Denis’ unique giving, both in the 
construction world as a project manager, and as a 
pastor in one of our BCMB Churches, has positioned 
him to assist our churches both practically, and 
theologically. The addition of Denis to the team has 
meant that my workload has become manageable; I 
am thankful for God’s provision. 

It has been exciting to participate in the birth of 
vision within our churches; watching God gift 
and move his people to action. One such vision 
that has come to fruition, is the Pursuit School of 

Evangelism at Willow Park Church in Kelowna. 
Under the astute leadership of Phil and Michelle 
Collins, and in collaboration with the Elders of the 
church, a dream to promote the gift of evangelism 
and train people for Gospel witness is becoming 
a reality. This year, BCMB agreed to partner 
with Willow Park in order to establish a school of 
evangelism that is being designed to train people 
to share their faith in Jesus. Designed with the 
local church in mind, I am excited to see how this 
visionary endeavor will bring fruit for the Kingdom.

I am encouraged to be part of a family that is 
committed to making much of Jesus. This past 
year, the leadership and congregation at Hyde 
Creek determined that the best way to further the 
Gospel was to embrace a new model. Recognizing 
the need to let go of the past in order to facilitate 
the work of God, the church determined to turn 
over ministry to another MB Church. After much 
consultation with various churches, and a heart to 
see their community reached for Christ, Northview 
has agreed to adopt the church and will launch 
a new campus in the Port Coquiltam area. This 
September, Tri-Cities Church will open its door as 
a new and burning light for the Gospel. Working 
in cooperation with Westside, and CrossRidge 
churches, Northview will give leadership to this 
new church plant. Knowing the location, and 
potential for ministry in the area, I look forward to 
discovering what works Christ has prepared for this 
new venture. 

Unknown to many, BCMB has a secret weapon (I 
know that’s not very Anabaptist)! For the past two 
years, David Leung has served as Assistant to the 
Conference Minister for Chinese Churches. BCMB 
enjoy the privilege of having some 18 Chinese 

“For we are God’s handiwork, created in Christ 
Jesus to do good works, which God prepared 

in advance for us to do.” Ephesians 2:10 
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congregations that are committed to Gospel 
faithfulness. Over the past several years, David 
has served as a full-time volunteer to facilitate this 
ministry with our Chinese Brothers and Sisters, 
and to foster a close working relationship between 
BCMB and the MBCCA (Mennonite Brethren 
Chinese Church Association). On December 31st, 
David officially retired from this role. On January 
1st, David began to unofficially serve as liaison 
to the Chinese Churches. While the time David 
invests will be diminished somewhat, I am grateful 
that his heart and passion for this ministry will 
continue in this unofficial role. 

Some thirty percent of my responsibilities are given 
to serving as Executive Director for Camp Ministry. 
This is an exciting and fulfilling responsibility; one 
filled with challenges and opportunity. Camps 
continue to be one of the most effective tools 
that we have as churches, to effect evangelism, 
discipleship, and leadership development. Through 
the ministry of our camps, 
hundreds of children, 
youth, and adults heard 
of Jesus and gave their 
hearts to following him. 
Last week, I heard that 
Stillwood has an 80% 
retention rate for returning 
summer staff. In each of 
our camps, young women 
and men are given 
opportunities to test their 
call and gifting, all while 
being encouraged as 
disciples of Jesus. Camps 
serve as one of our 
most effective portals to 
introduce people to God, 
through school-group 
use, facilities rentals, 
and various retreats and 
camp activities. 

One of the challenges of 
running camp is meeting 
the financial realties 
associated with offering 
effective ministry. In most 

of our five camps, Camp Bob, Camp Likely, Gardom 
Lake, Pines, and Stillwood, camp fees only cover 
50% of the cost of camp programs. The remainder 
comes through rentals, donations, and fund raising. 
If we want to continue to offer effective ministry 
through camps, an investment of time and resources 
will be necessary. Increased pressure from society to 
conform to new social norms not only provides more 
opportunity to be salt and light, but also increases 
the need for the church to support this ministry both 
morally, and practically. I encourage you to consider 
how you, or your church, can support this effective 
Kingdom venture. 

One area of challenge in Camp Ministry was the 
financial crisis at Pines. Despite efforts to address 
the financial difficulties, Pines was unable to 
service its debt for several years. Last summer, a 
Task Force was established to give governance 
oversight to the Camp. Working with previous 
leadership, and Gene Krahn, Pine’s Executive 
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Director, the Task Force was commissioned to 
forge a workable way forward. Over time, it became 
clear that there were no easy solutions to the Pines 
financial dilemma and significant cost savings 
measures were adopted. It also became clear that 
for the foreseeable future, Pines could only sustain 
a limited ministry season: operating from May to 
the end of September. Pines staff was reduced 
to a skeleton crew, with the position of Executive 
Director being eliminated. The Task Force 
continues to work towards a reworked management 
plan with the hopes of rebuilding Pines over the 
next five years. As a result of the work of the BCMB 
Executive Board and the Canadian Conference, 
the debt at Pines was reduced by $600,000. 
This, along with a newly structured mortgage, the 
commitment of generous donors, and significant 
cost saving measures, will put Pines in a position 
whereby it should be able to meet a basic budget. 
We are grateful to Gene and Vicky Krahn for their 
years of faithful service to the camp. I am glad to 
know that they have determined to remain in Grand 
Forks as the owners of a local golf course. 

Much of this year was given to facilitating the 
creation of the BCMB Bible Camp Society. Accepting 
the mandate given at Convention last year, we 
undertook the task of creating a partner society that 
is giving oversight to camping ministry within BC. 
Through the generosity, and working in collaboration 
with the Likely Chapel Bible Camp Society, BCMB 
was able to assume leadership of an existing camp 
society, with charitable status, that expedited the 
process. Key leaders from around the province 
offered to serve as an interim Camp Society Board 
of Directors. Working with the Chairs of our various 
camps, and the Camp Directors, we have been able 
to establish a dedicated Bible camp society that 
it tasked with giving governance oversight to this 
important ministry. 

It is our conviction that the creation of the society 
will afford camp ministry and the Conference 
significant benefits. These benefits include: focused 
leadership and vision for camp ministry at the 
Executive Board level, comprehensive governance 
oversight to promote operational effectiveness, 
clear bilateral communication at the board and local 
leadership level, increased clarification of authority, 

accountability and mandate at the board and local 
level, and a measure of risk management. To this 
end, a draft Operations Manual has been created 
with the goal of ‘testing’ policies over the next year 
to ensure they facilitate ministry ‘on the ground.’ 
In addition, the creation of clear hiring protocols 
and an employment agreement were designed to 
facilitate the realities of ever-changing employment 
standards. In all honesty, this has not been an 
easy change for some. While in the past, the lines 
of authority and accountability were less clear, the 
new structure is more defined. It is my hope and 
expectation that going forward, the creation of this 
society will enable our camps and their leadership 
teams to serve even more effectively. In the end, 
our collective commitment to Camp Ministry 
focuses on evangelism, discipleship and leadership 
development. 

BCMB has enjoyed a season of stability on our 
ministry team. I am grateful for the godly dedication 
of our support team and of my colleagues, Rob 
and Denis. That said, in February I received notice 
from Sandy Friesen, who served BCMB for the 
past three years as our bookkeeper. Sandy’s time 
with BCMB was completed at the end of February. 
She is a godly woman who was committed to 
care for her mother, all while serving with passion 
and excellence. I am grateful for her faithfulness. 
Working with Loewen-Kruse, our accountants, 
BCMB was able to secure the services of Esther 
Neudorf as our new bookkeeper. We are grateful 
for God’s provision. 

Looking forward, I am excited to discover what 
the next chapter of ministry holds. Working with 
churches, leadership and pastoral teams is a joy 
and privilege. I am thankful to the Lord for the work 
He has prepared in advance for us to accomplish. I 
anticipate that serving with you for the glory of our 
King will be a wonderful, if not at times daunting, 
endeavor. I draw strength from knowing that we 
are God’s handiwork, created in Christ Jesus to do 
good work. 

Serving the King with you, 

Ron van Akker
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I have been told that in the world of structural 
engineering, long-span bridges are the most 
challenging, yet rewarding, structures to design and 
build. That’s because bridges tend to be exposed 
to more severe natural forces from the elements 
than other structures, and are usually built in 
constraining or challenging terrain. Yet, building 
bridges offers engineers the rewarding opportunity 
to connect spans that would otherwise be difficult 
or even impossible to cross. 

In the history of humanity, Christ has built the 
ultimate bridge between us and God. He shed 
his blood on the cross and gave his life for the 
atonement of our sins:  “For all have sinned and fall 
short of the glory of God, and are justified by his 
grace as a gift, through the redemption that is in 
Christ Jesus” (Romans 3:23). 

As Director of Resource Ministries, I see my role 
as one building bridges into our BC churches 
by providing resources that enable them to fulfill 
their God-given mandate and assist them as they 
realize the vision God has given them. This is not 
easy, given the variety of churches we have in our 
province. However, the reward of being part of 
this process and seeing how they proclaim God’s 
good news in their community far outweighs the 
challenges. 

This past year, I had the privilege to be invited to 
meet with elders from several churches to share 

key governance principles that could help them 
streamline their polity structures. My aim was to 
focus on areas that are often misunderstood or 
neglected. By clarifying the role of the moderator, 
defining the relationship between the pastor and 
the board of elders, or helping to distinguish the 
roles and authority of associate staff and lay 
leaders, my hope was to create an environment 
that enabled a more harmonized church operation. 

Another area that required our attention this past 
year, was the implementation of the new Society’s 
Act legislation for British Columbia. While the 
implementation of this new legislation has minimal 
impact on the churches that are under the BCMB 
Society umbrella, it presents all our churches with the 
opportunity to examine and update their bylaws and 
governance policies. To this end, I will continue to 
assist our churches as they engage in this process. 

One of the major undertakings of BCMB this year, 
was the creation and implementation of a new 
Camp Society as part of the mandate received from 
our churches at last year’s Convention. This new 
governance model will bring clarity and increased 
synergy into our 5 camps, as well as mitigate our 
Conference’s liability and exposure. And even 
though we logged thousands of kms visiting our 
five camps, it was rewarding and encouraging to 
witness the passion, dedication, and love which the 
leaders and volunteers of these camps pour out 
into the kids. It has, truly, been a privilege. 

Director of Resource Ministries Report
Denis Federau

Now may the God of peace who brought again from the 
dead our Lord Jesus, the great shepherd of the sheep, 
by the blood of the eternal covenant, equip you with ev-
erything good that you may do his will, working in us that 

which is pleasing in his sight, through Jesus Christ, to 
whom be glory forever and ever (Hebrews 23:21-22)
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This coming year, I want to spend more time with 
our churches, engaging with the leadership to 
facilitate clarity and effective church governance. 
Our aim is not to prescribe predetermined, top-
down governance policies and polity systems, but 
to engage with each church, hearing how they do 
ministry and understanding how their governance 
structure functions. Our hope is to offer principles 
that might improve and strengthen their day-to-day 
operation and administration. 

Another area I hope to focus time on this year, 
is in developing further clarity in the area of 
Human Resources and particularly, the issue of 
employment contracts. Gone are the days where 
we simply hired someone on a handshake or a 
verbal agreement. The reality is, we live in a litigious 
society, and it behooves us to clearly communicate 
the expectations employees and employers have of 
each other. No one likes to deal with these issues 
when relationships are harmonious. However, if or 
when they do break down, it is good to have a set of 
standards and guidelines in place that everyone has 
agreed to, that will guide the process. We have the 
fiduciary responsibility to use the resources God has 
entrusted to us for the expansion of His kingdom and 
not to placate or settle dysfunctional relationships. 

Lastly, an increasingly important matter that our 
churches and camps find themselves having 
to deal with, is the issue of gender dysphoria. 
Together with Rob Thiessen and Ron van Akker, 
we are working on formulating a theological 
response. Our aim is to create a foundation that is 
Biblically sound, yet one that fosters conversations 
with those who struggle with their gender identity. 
Our hope is to bring them to a place where they 
can surrender their conflict and find a new identity 
in Christ.

My desire is that, as I continue to resource our 
BCMB churches and camps with governance, 
insurance, legal, financial, or HR resources, our 
churches continue to grow closer together to reflect 
Christ’s prayer: “That they may all be one, just as 
you, Father, are in me, and I in you, that they also 
may be in us, so that the world may believe that 
you have sent me”(John 17:21). 

In Christ’s Service, 

Denis Federau
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Building Community
“We want to be a BFL that’s listening,” says David 
Miller. In 2016, the Board of Faith and Life welcomed 
Miller as chair and Paul Loewen as vice chair. 

The Board of Faith and Life is called to watch over 
the spiritual life of Canadian MB churches and give 
leadership to the teaching of our confession of faith 
as we “multiply Christ-centred churches to see 
Canada transformed by the good news of Christ.” 

Publications produced or initiated in 2016 include a 
statement on ordination, a Chinese translation of the 
MB Confession of Faith commentary and pastoral 
application, and a pamphlet on creation and faith 
(set to be published in March 2017). In 2017 we 
can expect to see a revised Canadian edition of 
Family Matters (required reading for all pastors in 
the credentialing process), as well as a pamphlet 
on the sanctity of life by Pierre Gilbert, focusing on 
theological and worldview issues that are at stake 
when thinking about abortion.

The BFL is involved in planning Equip Study 
Conference 2017 to be held Nov. 1–3 in Abbotsford, 
B.C., which focuses on the theme of Transforming
Discipleship.

Robyn Serez (MAL), Christine Longhurst (Manitoba 
representative), Elton DaSilva (MBCM executive 
director), Phil Gunther (SKMB director of ministry) 
and Brent Hudson (Atlantic Canada) also joined as 
new members in 2016.

“It’s a great group of people,” says Miller. “we have 
a sense of moving ahead together, asking ‘how can 
we serve more effectively?’”

Resourcing Ministry
CCMBC financial services resource ministry by 
offering financial and administrative services and 
tools to churches and organizations to help them 
achieve their mission. The mark of our success is 
when Mennonite Brethren churches and our partner 
ministries have access to services and resources to 
help them achieve their mission.

The following comments are based on the internal 
CCMBC financial reports as of December 31, 
2016. The analysis is a comparison between the 
actual year to date results and the annual budget 
that was approved at the annual general meeting 
in October 2015 and an analysis of the CCMBC 
financial position at December 31, 2016. This 
information has not been audited and has not been 
consolidated with the for-profit corporations.

More specific details will become available once we 
receive audited statements.

• Church contributions, donations and grants as
well as interest income came in under the 2016
budgeted amount.

• Ministry expenditures as well as stewardship
management expenses were below 2016
budget amounts.

• The net result is an operating surplus which
will be added to the accumulating operating
reserve.

• In response to the budget amendment passed
at Gathering 2016, stewardship surplus (capital
gains, recovery of credit losses and 10% of the
surplus from stewardship management) was
transferred to the investment reserve fund.

Canadian Conference
National Ministry
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CCMBC Moderator Letter
National Ministry

Imagine being a family of MB churches that is 
absolutely committed to pursuing one mission 
together – locally, nationally and globally. 

If you look up “commission,” you find it is “an 
instruction, command or duty given to a group of 
people,” and it comes with the required power and 
authority to carry it out. This is what Jesus gave 
the church – we call it the “great commission” 
(Matthew 28:16–20). 

Jesus’s commission came with some pain and 
conflict. There were only 11 disciples left (v. 16), 
a reminder of Judas’ betrayal and death. Jesus’ 
commission came amid ongoing doubts and fear 
(v. 17). But Jesus gave clear authority and power 
in his name and through the Holy Spirit to carry 
his commission out – a discipleship revolution that 
would transform individuals and families through 
the work of the church. 

That is a mission that motivates me and all of us 
who lead in the Canadian Conference of Mennonite 
Brethren Churches! What a joy to work with you in 
our calling (our great co-mission) that has eternal 
significance and power in the heavenly realms.

It is becoming increasing clear that this vision of 
one mission is possible as we: 

• help to multiply leaders and disciple-making
churches in local communities,

• strengthen and support vibrant provincial
bodies to help our churches,

• build a lean national structure that provides
connection and meaning and

• learn from and engage with our global family.

This unity of mission is the goal our executive 
board (EB) is pursuing. We received a thorough 
report outlining the extensive consultation of 
the past two years, along with the subsequent 
recommendation from the C2C/MBM task force. 
From the prayerful discernment of this report, and 
the ongoing evidence of strong support, the EB 
unanimously approved a motion “that MB Mission 

assume responsibility for the mission and ministry 
of C2C network.” 

After the membership has had the opportunity 
to further discuss this motion at our provincial 
conventions, it will be brought for a vote at a 
Special General Meeting in Abbotsford Nov. 1, just 
prior to Equip Study Conference 2017. 

We are excited for how these two unique 
ministries of MB Mission and C2C together will 
bring God’s mission to the forefront of the local 
church – locally, nationally and globally – building 
on the unique strengths of each. We have 
encouraged them to collaborate even more as we 
move in this direction. As plans unfold, we will be 
communicating more details regarding how these 
ministries will work together. 

Another way the EB is pursuing one mission 
is through increased provincial and national 
collaboration. This cooperative spirit was evident at 
the provincial conferences that have already taken 
place and at meetings surrounding Multiply 2017. We 
will continue working closely with provincial leaders 
as we listen and talk to each other and collaborate on 
ministry together, including at this conference. 

The EB’s efforts to foster unity have included 
creating opportunities to dialogue with members  
about CCMBC’s financial situation. We provided 
additional reports in October 2016 and followed 
up with a moderated conference call in December. 
Steve Berg and/or myself – along with other EB 
members and CCMBC staff – will be at each of the 
provincial conventions to continue this dialogue. 

We are blessed to have the gifts and passion that 
Steve Berg brings to his role as interim executive 
director. We are also so thankful for the faithful 
staff who serve our conference, both in upfront 
ministries and behind the scenes.

We continue to need and to pursue a discipleship 
revolution of healthy, multiplying, Christ-centred 
churches to see Canada transformed by the good 
news of Jesus Christ. This is our prayer and our 
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Introducing Steve Berg
Executive Director

work. May God give us faith, courage and wisdom 
for our mission together!

May this be our prayer: “Now to him who is able to 
do immeasurably more than all we ask or imagine, 
according to his power that is at work within us, 
to him be glory in the church and in Christ Jesus 
throughout all generations, for ever and ever! 
Amen” (Ephesians 3:20–21).

With anticipation,

Bruce Enns 
CCMBC moderator 
March 2017

The call came on the snowy evening of December 
9, while all ten adults in our family were enjoying 
a dinner out for my wife Karen’s birthday. “Can we 
meet for breakfast tomorrow?” my trusted friend, 
L2L director Ron Toews, on the other end of the 
line, asked. Over coffee the next morning, Ron 
asked if I would consider taking his place in the 
role of interim executive director of the Canadian 
Conference of MB Churches. And so again, 
uniquely for me, God called.

The Greek word for calling, kaleo, means 
“summons.” Having a calling means 
understanding and living our whole lives as 
a response to God’s summons – his leading. 
Clearly that Saturday morning, and in the 
discernment conversations that followed, I felt 
summoned by God to lead CCMBC for a time, 
albeit part-time – balanced with my pastoral call 
to lead South Abbotsford Church, where I will 
continue to give 25 percent of my time.

I wonder if there isn’t something in this for us all 
to consider again during this provincial gathering. 
God was already working to use us before we ever 

become aware of it. Today, God’s Spirit calls us to 
join him faithfully in his mission. 

This call is clear for me in the next eighteen 
months. I will meet as many of the MB family 
as possible, building respectful and trusting 
relationships. I will bring encouragement and clarity 
for the wonderful people on the CCMBC team. I 
will spur on the nation-wide discernment of the MB 
Mission/C2C merger. I will foster the partnership 
conversation between the MB Seminary and L2L. 
I will strengthen the collaboration between the 
provincial conferences and the national ministries. 
I will champion the message that the whole MB 
family is on one mission – local, national, global – 
to make Jesus known.

As you hear the unique call of God for you, I hope 
these words from Frederick Buechner will inspire 
you: “The place God calls you to is the place 
where your deep gladness and the world’s deep 
hunger meet.”

Steve Berg 
CCMBC Executive Director
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Pastoral Ministries Committee 
Lorraine Dyck and Cam Stuart

It is our privilege, as the Pastoral Ministries 
Committee (PMC), to serve the MBBC family by 
prayerfully and carefully engaging the gifted pastors 
who join our denomination.  We credential pastors, 
CBC faculty and MB Mission staff.  Ps. 145:3,4 
reflects some of our experience as we listen to stories 
and enjoy rich interactions with the credentialing 
candidates that come to us. We read with wonder 
their documents, we listen, we probe, we encourage, 
we pray and we commend them in the gifts and 
calling God has placed on their lives.  We are often 
amazed and humbled by the quality and kind of 
leaders God is bringing to our BCMB family.

The Pastoral Ministries Committee (PMC) 
serves the churches of the Mennonite Brethren 
Conference in BC by credentialing pastors serving 
in our constituency, most of whom are new to 
our denomination.   Those who serve on the 
committee, commit to a good half day of reading 
the documents (roughly thirty pages each) and then 
a full day of interviews each month for 8 months 
of the year.  It is rewarding but demanding work.  
The PMC members for 2016-2017 are Co-chairs: 
Lorraine Dyck and Cam Stuart, and Committee 
members:  Brian Cooper, Wes Dahl, Eldon Fehr, 
Judy Harms-Wiebe, Paul Lam, Ken Peters, Connie 
Siebert, Rob Thiessen (Conference Pastor).

The ministry that is provided by PMC, grants stability 
to the pastoral work being done throughout our 
province. Besides meeting with and interviewing the 
candidates, PMC also works on a variety of agenda 
items that come to our attention. Here are some of 
the agenda items that have come to us in this year:

1) Processing Ordination Requests
• William Hui, Richmond Pacific Grace, English

Language Pastor – October 2, 2016

2) Processing credentialing categories
• There is continuing work being done on this

with our churches.

3) BFL/PMC relationship
• It was affirmed that the by-laws be amended to

include representation to and from the Board
of Faith and Life (National) on the PMC.  This
person should be separate from the conference
minister or associate conference minister.

4) Created a suggested reading list
• There are times when some candidates need

a broader reading list than they have. PMC
members have given suggestions to help with
specific theological and spiritual subject matter.

5) Updating the list of current pastors in the
BCMB Conference
• This list is constantly changing and PMC needs

the help of the churches to keep this list current.
When pastors move to another church or out of
the denomination, the BCMB Conference office
should be notified.

6) PMC has also updated the policies on
licensing for retired and inactive pastors.
• The policy has been changed as follows:

Retired and Inactive Leaders within BCMB 
Conference
Retired and/or inactive BCMB pastors shall be 
granted permission to retain their credentials for up 
to 5 years following retirement and up to 2 years 
after a vocational change from their church ministry 
post, as long as they are a member in good standing 
of an MB church in BC. If the pastor has not returned 
to pastoral ministry during the 2 year grace period, 
their credentials will no longer be renewed. 

Great is the Lord and worthy of all praise;
    His greatness is unfathomable.

One generation shall commend thy works to another …
Psalm 145:3, 4a (NEB)
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Mikey Pierson Associate Pastor of Grade School Northview Community Church

Brent Lanigan Associate Pastor of Supportive Care Ministries Northview Community Church

Imran Daniel Associate Pastor Local Missions Northview Community Church

Michael Olynyk Associate Pastor of Student Ministries South Abbotsford Church

Tim Tse Assistant Pastor Bethel Chinese MB Church

Francis Tong Assistant Pastor Bethel Chinese MB Church

Peter La Grand Pastor of Worship/Neighbourhood Engagement Artisan Church

Phil Routly Chaplain, Mountain Institution Northview Community Church

Zachary Hillman Senior Pastor Gateway Community, Port Alberni

Deanna Pohl Director of Children’s Ministry Arnold Community Church

Ernest Romanchik Youth Pastor Arnold Community Church

Laura Wiens Associate Pastor of Children’s Ministry Northview Community Church

Lori Nickel Lead Team – Member Care Team Leader MB Mission

Curtis Tulman Director of Worship Willow Park Community Church

Shawn Pauls Senior Youth Director Willow Park Community Church

Mitchell Petillion Youth Pastor Willow Park Community Church

Tamara Welsh Children’s Pastor Willow Park Community Church

Doug Wiebe Campus Pastor Willow Park Community Church

Rick Bayer Lead Pastor Gracepoint Community Church

Chris Ross Children/Family Pastor Central Community Church

Jonathan Kornelson Youth Pastor Central Community Church

Amy Lenny Worship/Young Adults Central Heights Church

Lu Allan Youth Pastor Fraserview Church

Eliza Lai Associate Pastor Burnaby Pacific Grace MB Church

Darlee-Ann McPhail Children’s Pastor Central Heights Church

Larry Bieber Pastor of Senior’s Ministry Central Heights Church

Paul Wartman Para Church Ministry Coast Hills Community Church

Kurtis Kube Director of Development Columbia Bible College

Anna Chu Children’s Pastor Richmond Chinese MB Church

Don Banman Associate Pastor of Youth and Young Adults North Peace MB Church

Name Position Church

Candidates Credentialed 2016-2017

Serving our Lord and the BCMB family with joy!  

Lorraine Dyck and Cam Stuart and the PMC team.
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We submitted all required documents 
to the Association for Biblical Higher 
Education and were approved for re-
accreditation to 2027. We're excited 
and thankful!

One of my greatest joys as 
president of Columbia is sitting 
down with students and listening 
to their faith stories, current 
ministry involvements, and sense 
of God’s calling on their lives. To 
witness their passion for Christ 

and their desire to see God’s kingdom advance fills me 
with tremendous hope for the future.

In John 15:7, Jesus says that if we remain in him, and his 
words remain in us, then we can expect him to act on our 
requests. At Columbia, these two ideas — abiding in Christ 
and his words residing in us — are central to everything 
we do. Transformation takes place as students are gripped 
by the presence of Jesus, and the truth of his Word.

We do not know the places our students will go, or what 
careers they will pursue in the future, but we know that 
if they are rooted in Christ, and established in his word, 
they will remain in the center of God’s will. Watching 
our alumni serve Jesus with excellence in their chosen 
fields makes me think of Paul’s declaration: “For now we 
really live, since you are standing firm in the Lord” (1 
Thessalonians 3:8).”

Bryan Born, President

New

Continuing

Casual

TOTAL

196

215

07

418

171

229

06

406

167

223

05

405

FALL 2016STUDENTS FALL 2015 FALL 2014

E N R O L L M E N T  U P D AT EA L L  W E  N E E D  I N  C H R I S T  –  J O H N  1 5 : 7

We signed a 2+2 
Block Transfer 
agreement with 
University of the 
Fraser Valley. 
Graduates of 
Columbia's new 

Diploma in General Studies are eligible to transfer 
directly to Year 3 of UFV's Bachelor of General 
Studies program.

A C C R E D I TAT I O N

U F V  2 + 2  A G R E E M E N T

W E  W E L C O M E D  A  N E W  FA C U LT Y  M E M B E R

JESSE NICKEL, PHD
Biblical Studies Faculty

T R AV E L L I N G  M I N I S T RY  T E A M
As usual, it was 
a TMT highlight 
to serve and lead 
worship at BCMB 
congregations: 
Alderbrook, 
Bakerview, 

Willingdon, Willow Park, Northview, North Langley, 
and South Abbotsford. 

Columbia Bible College 
Columbia Highlights: 2016-2017
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DIPLOMA IN 
GENERAL STUDIES
This program 

is designed 

to provide a 

foundation in 

spiritual formation, biblical studies and the 

humanities. Graduates are eligible for our 2 + 2 

transfer with UFV. Launched Fall 2016. 

EMERGENCY 
RESCUE 
TECHNICIAN 
CERTIF ICATE
Aims to develop 

Christ-centered 

character and worldview along with the 

hard and soft skills to prepare grads to pursue 

careers in the emergency services. Launching 

Fall 2017.

WE DEVELOPED NEW PROGRAMS!

DIPLOMA 
IN SOCIAL 
ENTREPRENEURSHIP
Provides 

students with a 

Christ-centered 

perspective on launching a world-impacting 

business  or organization and equips them 

with core business skills and concepts, 

including accounting, marketing, non-profit 

management, and macroeconomics. 

Launching Fall 2017.

W E  T R A I N E D  &  C O M M I S S I O N E D  T O P - Q U A L I T Y 
S T U D E N T  L E A D E R S

S T R AT E G I C  P R I O R I T I E S :  2 0 1 6 - 1 7

Building a thriving, Christ-centered College that embodies God's 
Kingdom vision and develops mature Christ-followers

KEY GOALS:

• Implement cost-of-living wage increases for all staff & faculty.
• Make plans for needed building upgrades and a new Teaching

Centre.
• Rebuild enrollment by adding relevant new programs,

enhancing financial aid, and improving accessibility.
• Foster an ethos of personal discipleship among staff and

faculty.
• Maintain our commitment to Bible college education that

emphasizes spiritual and character growth, even as it equips
young men and women to pursue their chosen vocations with
excellence.

• Develop new programs that integrate faith formation with
practical career training for the marketplace.

T H A N K  YO U  T O  B C M B !

We're so grateful for BCMB's faithful and generous investment 
in Columbia Bible College. Many thanks for your gift of $376,791 
in 2016! We're also thankful for the dedicated service of BCMB 
representatives on our Board of Directors: Terry Kaethler (vice-
chair), Ron Born, Scott Carpenter, Chrissy Funk, Kyle Meeker, Eddy 
Mejlholm, Christine Reimer, and Lorne Welwood.

DIPLOMA 
IN APPLIED 
LEADERSHIP
Focused on 

equipping students 

with leadership skills 

for ministry and the marketplace. Students may 

enter in Year 1, or after completing a one-year 

certificate. Launching Fall 2017.
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Pursuit School of Evangelism
Michelle Collins

Pursuit School of Evangelism is a nine-month local 
church based ministry training program for students 
with a passion to serve God in evangelism.

Phil Collins has had a calling and a passion for 
evangelism since he was radically saved by the 
Lord as a young chaotic teenager. In his previous 
role as the National Evangelist for British Youth for 
Christ, Phil saw the lives of countless young people 
transformed by the power of the gospel. Phil’s early 
ministry saw him leading a variety of schools and 
evangelistic projects in the United Kingdom and he 
witnessed the value and effectiveness of investing 
into young people who were called to evangelism.

Fast-forward 20 years; Phil is now Senior Pastor 
of Willow Park church in Kelowna, and his passion 
for releasing and mentoring young people into 
evangelism still burns brightly. In recent years the 
Lord has laid a vision on Phil and Michelle’s hearts 
to birth an evangelism school out of their base; 
Willow Park Church. After presenting the vision to 
their church board and to BCMB, they are therefore 
excited to see the launch of 'Pursuit School of 
Evangelism' in September 2017.

The Harvest is Ready
You will no doubt agree, our country is in desperate 
need of the gospel.  Our millennial generation 
needs to be reached in a relevant, intentional way. 
We believe Pursuit School will play a significant 
role in labourers being equipped and sent out 
into the harvest.  The goal of Pursuit School is to 
inspire, equip and release ministers to their ministry 
call. Operating from an Ephesians 4 philosophy, the 
vision is to train those called to ‘… equip the saints 
for the work of the ministry, for building up the body 
of Christ.’ (Eph 4:12) Pursuit School is unique in 
that it will be both classroom and placement based 
on a weekly basis.

What is Pursuit School? 
Pursuit School starts with a 2 week, one-off ‘boot 
camp’ where all students will go through a process 
of identifying gifts, strengths and calling. Following 
boot camp, the rest of the year will be both class 

and placement based weekly. 

Class will be two full days based at Willow Park 
Church following the Acts 2 model of community, 
where students will study, eat and pray together. 
The curriculum will be taught by experienced 
practitioners – men and women from around 
the country who are actively involved in various 
ministries.  Class times will include personal 
reflection and times with an allocated mentor.  
During these two days, students will be inspired, 
equipped and strengthened – ready to put what 
they have learned into practice.

The rest of the week will be on placement with their 
allocated team. Students will be placed prayerfully 
in their placement according to evangelistic gifting 
and passion, and they will be with this placement 
for the school year. Students will work closely with 
your church coordinator and implement a confirmed 
plan of activities both in and outside of the church. 
This could be participating in or initiating activities 
depending on their own gifting. This creates a 
culture where students take risks to stretch their faith 
and grow in their understanding of God and ministry.

Pursuit School - a quick overview.
Visit our website pursuitschool.com

• First intake - September 2017 to June 2018
(with optional missions trip on completion)

• 18 upwards with no upper age limit
• The school curriculum offers an array of training,

beginning with a 2-week boot camp.
• The highly experienced teaching and mentoring

team are from across the world and are known
and trusted by the Pursuit School team.

• Approved church placement to develop your
evangelistic gifting and passion.

• Faith in action; what you’ll learn is what you’ll do
• Development in character, skills and

understanding
• Certificate of Completion is issued to those that

meet graduation requirement.
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• Dependence on the person and power of the
Holy Spirit in and through you.

• Personal discipler/mentor for the year.
• Placement opportunities could include after

school clubs, youth work, children’s work,
leading Alpha, street evangelism, work with the
homeless, preaching, and teaching.

Our prayer is that the next generation of active 
evangelists will pursue their call, serve the local 
church and start purposefully discipling others.

How can you be involved?
*Send a student from your congregation e.g. an

intern. The student attends two days of classes 
weekly and your church manages the placement 
(better suited to Okanagan based churches)

*Send students for the full school year and your
student experiences an alternative placement.

*Host a team at your church. This team would be
fully focused on outreach, mission and evangelism.
The team would be in the classroom for two full
days and the remainder on placement with your
church/ministry.

If you would like to discuss any of these options or 
register your interest in hosting a team for the year, 
please contact michelle@pursuitschool.com 

Pursuit School of Evangelism
Michelle Collins
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L2L Update
Daniel Beutler

Cooperative and collaborative listening
Two metaphors informed and shaped much of the 
ministry of L2L in 2016 that was marked by increased 
listening to one another and listening together. 

The first metaphor comes from Jesus’ challenge 
to his disciples to “fish on the other side” in John 
21:6 (NIV): “Throw your net on the right side of 
the boat and you will find some.” While we tend to 
want to go back to what we know or what worked 
well in the past, Jesus often calls us away from the 
familiar to surrender to Him and to depend on Him 
in kingdom-sized mandate that entirely eclipses 
our own. The second metaphor is that of a shoe 
horn. Since its inception, L2L was built to serve as 
a creative and flexible way of coming alongside 
emerging and established leaders and ministry. 
To that end, L2L continues to be staffed to support 
frontline ministry, not to be frontline ministers. The 
shoe horn communicates the desire to serve and 
customize, rather than to build and maintain an 
elaborate delivery system.

Both metaphors share the importance of and 
the need to listen. Listening to God and to one 
another continues to be at the core of what 
L2L does and facilitates. Throughout 2016, we 
have continued to resource churches on mission, 
enabling them to listen to God together and to 
discern their next steps toward missional clarity and 
effectiveness. Here are some of the practical ways 
we have done this:

• church assessments - helping leaders, staff,
and the congregation to get a read on where a
church is in its overall lifecycle, surface growth
areas in terms of missional life traits, and tools
to discern next steps for a church in fulfilling its
mission and vision.

• staff and volunteer evaluations - customizing
appreciative inquiries and evaluation processes
that support personal development and
leadership effectiveness. Providing insights into

existing ministry descriptions and helping to 
develop needed templates.

• team building - providing experiential learning
opportunities for teams to gain greater
awareness of their own wiring, as well as
appreciation of and ability to draw out the
contributions of others.

• governance and board training and orientation
- providing training in discerning functional
structures, exploring different governance
issues, and customizing board training and
orientation that fits the natural cycle of a given
church or organization.

• transitional ministry - L2L partners with Cam
Taylor, Director of Transitional Leadership with
Outreach Canada, and Randy Wollf, Assistant
Professor of Practical Theology and Leadership
Studies with MBBS Canada, in training
transitional leaders and helping churches to be
proactive in their succession planning and how
to navigate transitions. While there is always a
need for more transitional pastors, not all who
wish to do this work are well suited to it. L2L is
developing a discernment process that helps
aspiring transitional pastors gain clarity whether
transitional ministry training fits their wiring,
gifting, and experience.

• professional development and pre-hiring
- offering personality, spiritual gifts, and
leadership skills assessments and supporting
search teams in their screening and interview
processes

We have also continued to develop and equip 
leaders in community - teaching, mentoring and 
coaching them where they are for the mission and 
calling God has given them. To this end we have 
continued to provide the following four spiritual 
discovery and equipping processes:

• Clarity (why I do what I do) – A spiritual discovery
process best suited for people in the 18-45 age
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range and devoted to clarifying purpose, values 
and vision.   A new young missionary attended 
Clarity and said, “Those days really were such 
a huge help to me in clarifying my call… I now 
keep it before me always.” 

• APEX (what I do and how I do it) – A spiritual
discovery process best suited for people in the
40-60 age range and devoted to clarifying major
role and how God uniquely influences others
through the leader’s life.   A pastor in mid-
ministry attended APEX and said, “I appreciated
the strong emphasis on who we are, not just
what we do.  The retreat affirmed my central
call and role in ministry.”

• Resonance (what finishing well looks like for
me) – A spiritual discovery process intended for
people in the 50-75 age range and devoted to
clarifying what it means to live authentically and
in sync with God's desires and purposes during
the autumn of life.  A retired teacher attended
Resonance and wrote, “Thank you for a God-
filled three days.  You likely have some idea of
how badly I needed this time… I can finish well
and at peace with Him.”

• Coach Training – Coaching is an approach to
doing ministry. It is a way of leading. A one-
day coaching workshop for Christian leaders
provides people with practical coaching skills
that can be applied in everyday conversations
with family, at work, and ministry.  A three-
day coaching workshop provides greater
knowledge and skill development that helps
leaders to maximize their ministry effectiveness
in discipling, leading, and equipping and
empowering others.

Throughout this year, God has also continued 
to grant L2L favour in facilitating listening to one 
another. A concrete example of this is the area 
of conflict transformation. Sometimes leaders or 
churches seek coaching or resourcing to begin 
surfacing and addressing internal conflicts. 
Sometimes provincial conference staff direct high 
level conflict to L2L. L2L does not report publicly 
on its mediation work, and only rarely privately; no 
leader or church wants their conflict aired publicly. 

Another example of facilitating listening to one 
another is in developing strategic partnerships. 
Listening to one another forms the basis for 
intentional partnerships and greater missional 
synergy. 

The Presidents’ Network offers this by connecting 
the presidents of our theological schools and the 
Camping Ministry Directors & Spouses Network 
creates a safe place for those involved in this 
area of ministry. L2L also continued to partner 
intentionally with our MB Seminary, whose 
MinistryLift offers continuing education (not-for-
credit) for professional and non-professional 
ministry leaders. L2L staff led workshops at 
MinistryLift events and the combined efforts 
provided a synergistic approach to leadership 
development for leaders and churches. There 
were also specific cases where churches became 
aware of learning needs through the assessment 
processes L2L offers. L2L, in turn, passed 
the baton to the seminary, which provided the 
needed expertise or facilitated the equipping. 
Intentional collaboration between L2L and the 
seminary provided community for leaders who are 
practitioners in the local church and leaders with 
an academic wiring. The mutually encouraging 
learning that took place in local churches and 
through MinistryLift also increased stewardship of 
shared resources and greater missional synergy. 

Highlights of 2016
Churches coached through an assessment 

Small groups discussing their current 
learning interests at L2Lnet.org  

Leaders trained in applying coaching 
skills in their everyday conversations 

Leaders and people in coaching relationships 

Network events with camping directors 
and presidents of theological schools  

Leaders developed through APEX, 
Personal Clarity, or Resonance 

Active members on L2Lnet.org 

Leadership Training Matching grants awarded 
Denominations served 

10 

242 

226

113 leaders

3  

160 

122 (overall members = 709)

$21,238

12

L2L Update
Daniel Beutler
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LANGLEY CAMPUS

PROVINCIAL CONVENTION REPORT 2017

After hearing a good sermon, reflecting on your last small group 
discussion, or coming up for air from the depths of a great book, it’s 
not uncommon to wonder if God is asking you to get involved in a new 
or different way for the sake of his kingdom.

You might be asking what’s next as you reflect on the gifts you have 
received from God, the skills and competencies you have gained over 
time, and the experience in work, family, and serving in your church. 
How will you take serious the call to step forward and find out what 
God has in store for you? What is your next step?

MB Seminary graduate Nikki White commented on her seminary 
experience and said, “It has better equipped me to be able to express 
who God is, and to draw people into God’s presence.” This is a 
common theme among many men and women who set apart a time 
for training and education to serve God more effectively. Current 
student Nick Poetker commented, “MB Seminary is a place where my 
heart and mind are constantly being renewed towards the desires and 
workings of God, in order to be equipped for service.”

One of the deep convictions that is often repeated at MB Seminary is 
“effective mission requires effective preparation.” The tagline Lifelong 
Learning for Lifelong Mission also carries this sentiment of not only 
making yourself available for God’s mission, but also making yourself 
available to prepare for effective work in God’s mission.  As you follow 
God’s leading in your life, MB Seminary is uniquely situated to help you 
answer the question, “What’s next?”

WINNIPEG CAMPUS

MB Seminary exists to educate and equip people 
who help lead the church in reaching Canada and the world 

with the good news of Jesus Christ
Mark Wessner 
President

YOUR CHURCH

?

WHAT'S NEXT?
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Online courses offered for $400

· Increased scholarship and 

bursary money

Lifelong learning for lifelong mission   /   mbseminary.ca   /  langley@mbseminary.ca   /  winnipeg@mbseminary.ca

Matching Grant available to
Mennonite Brethren students studying
at MBBS, covering up to 50% of tuition

Lifelong Learning 
for Lifelong Mission

MB SEMINARY STUDENTS

• 78 students took courses with MB Seminary in 2016-2017 (14 in Winnipeg, 64 in Langley)
• 37 of those were “new students” as of this year (6 in Winnipeg, 31 in Langley)
• Over 40% of MB Seminary students this year are full-time (9+ credit hours per semester)
• 33% of students this year are female, 67% are male
• 80% of MB Seminary students come from Mennonite Brethren churches

INNOVATION THROUGH PARTNERSHIPS

• Faculty and staff of MB Seminary participated in over 70 training and speaking events in churches and other
ministry venues in the fall of 2016
• MB Seminary is partnering with Manitoba Mennonite Brethren Conference in a program called Elevation -
students can complete a Master of Arts in Christian Ministry degree while serving in a local congregation under
the guidance of a local pastor
• MB Seminary offers a Master of Divinity Immerse program in partnership with Northview Community Church
as a part of the goal to establish teaching churches in each province
• MB Seminary is formalizing a relationship with Tyndale Seminary in Ontario in conjunction with the Ontario
Conference of Mennonite Brethren Churches, the first course will be taught by Andrew Dyck in June 2017

AFFORDABLE AND ACCESSIBLE

• MinistryLift offers over 100 video training resources for individuals and congregations who have a membership
• MB Seminary offers financial aid covering up to 32% of tuition on both Langley and Winnipeg campuses
• Up to 2/3 of the Master of Divinity and Master of Arts in Christian Studies in Langley can be completed off
campus – many courses are made available through modular classes, online classes, and live-streaming
options from both Winnipeg and Langley
• MB Seminary subsidizes online courses at $400 for Mennonite Brethren students
• L2L makes the Leadership Training Matching Grant available to Mennonite Brethren students studying at MB
Seminary, covering up to 50% of tuition in partnership with the local church

FINANCES
MB Seminary completed the first half of the 2016-2017 fiscal year in a net positive position. We are grateful for the financial support 
of many churches, the Canadian Conference, the Manitoba Conference, and generous donors across Canada who have helped the 
seminary complete each fiscal year positively. Audited financial statements are submitted to the Canadian Conference Executive 
Board and are available at mbseminary.ca.
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C2C Network
Report to Convention, Spring 2017

“But when the goodness and 
loving kindness of God our 

Saviour appeared, He saved 
us, not because of works done 
by us in righteousness, but ac-
cording to His own mercy, by 
the washing of regeneration 

and renewal of the Holy Spirit, 
whom He poured out on us 

richly through Jesus Christ our 
Saviour…” Titus 3:4-6

God, in goodness and love, has poured out His 
Holy Spirit on us, redeeming, renewing and drawing 
people to Himself. In our provincial report, we want 
to share with you the good things that we see God 
doing and invite you into the good things that yet 
remain to be done.

It can’t be overstated; the need in our province for 
the proclamation of the gospel is great! While as a 
province we boast some of the most picturesque 
natural beauty on the planet, we are also known 
as the region of our country with the highest 
number of people who claim, “no religion” on the 
census. 38% of British Columbians make such 
a claim, and yet, they also continue to describe 
themselves as “spiritual.”

There’s so much yet to be done!
As the church planting network and a provincial 
ministry of BCMBCC, we have the joy and privilege 
of joining with God in His work of redemption and 
renewal. C2C exists to make much of Jesus and 
to see lives transformed by the gospel. In our role 
as a provincial ministry, we recognize God has 
given the local church an incredible mandate. As a 

network, we fulfill our objective of making much of 
Jesus as we come alongside and serve local MB 
churches in their immense and vital work of making 
disciples through the planting of new churches and 
the multiplication of ministry. 

We serve local churches in the work 
yet to be done!
We agree with our founding fathers, “May Jesus 
have dominion from sea to sea and from the 
rivers to the ends of the earth!” (Psalm 72:8). We 
see King Jesus reigning from coast to coast, sea 
to sea, in our towns and cities, our homes and 
places of business, in our schools and throughout 
our communities! What would that look like? 
Transformation of lives, the glory of Jesus, and the 
fame and renown of our Heavenly Father! We may 
not be able to comprehend it, but “Lord, bring it on!”

Holy Spirit in this work yet to be done, 
do something we can’t even imagine.
God’s good redemptive work was seen this past 
year in the lives that were changed since our last 
provincial convention. In C2C church plants across 
our province alone, we saw 1301 people make a 
public profession of faith in the waters of baptism.

Further, the average church attendance for C2C 
MB plants in 2016 here in BC was 130 people. 
That compares with average church attendance 
in Canada of 90 people. There are 36,000,000+ 
people living in Canada today…

C2C and the MB family of churches here in BC 
delighted in the birth of two new MB churches since 
our last provincial convention:

• City Life Church in Abbotsford – Jon Wiebe
• NLCC Yorkson Campus in Willoughby – Jeff

Renaud

Both churches were launched in the fall of 2016 and 
are seeing the fruit of their labour. As of this writing, 
City Life Church is looking forward to beginning the 
Alpha program to be held at the Highstreet Mall in 
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Abbotsford after Easter of this year. North Langley 
Community Church’s Yorkson campus is working 
closely with the main campus to facilitate ministry 
and reach the greater community of Langley. 

As churches are planted and grow into sustainable 
maturity, they move from being a C2C church 
plant to being under the authority of their provincial 
denomination. God’s work of renewal was evident 
this past year as the following C2C MB church 
plants were “graduated” and placed under the 
leadership of the BCMB2:

• The Rock Church in Squamish – Glenn &
Janice Davies, Pastor

• Crossridge Church in Surrey – Lee & Ilonav
Francois, Pastor

• Real Life Church in Vancouver – Kristian &
Susie Martens, Pastor

• Arabic Evangelical Church in Surrey – Redda
& Tahany Hanna, Pastor

We rejoice in these six churches and 
what God has brought about! 
Every church was once a church plant and every 
church owes its existence to God’s provision and 

sustaining work. Even as we recognize God’s work 
in planting these churches and providing for these 
former church plants, we are keenly aware that 
across Canada between 300-400 churches close 
each year.

There are 36,000,000+ people living in Canada 
today and 11,000 evangelical churches tasked with 
making disciples among those 36 million people…

Still, there is so much yet to be done!
We’re excited to see what God is doing, to be a 
part of His work here in BC and across Canada. 
While there is so much yet to be done, we stand 
ready to serve the local church as we link arms 
together in Christ and are used of the Holy Spirit 
in the redemptive work of Kingdom advancement, 
church planting and ministry multiplication.

1That number is for June-December 2016.  As of this writing, 
we do not have the baptism numbers for the first quarter of 
2017.

2In addition to these MB church plants, Fraser Point, a church 
plant affiliated with Andy Stanley’s North Point church in 
Atlanta, graduated this past year.

City Life Church in Abbotsford – Jon WiebeNLCC Yorkson Campus in Willoughby – Jeff Renaud

C2C Network
Report to Convention, Spring 2017
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MB Mission
Report to Convention, Spring 2017

Embracing One Mission
Today, mission is from everywhere to everywhere. 

At a recent church planting conference in 
Vancouver, I was inspired by several experiences 
that convinced me more than ever that we need to 
embrace this new reality. The event was sponsored 
by C2C, an interdenominational church planting 
network birthed by the MB church. I loved the 
international flavour of the gathering. 

I sat next to several leaders from our Paraguayan 
MB conference who were attending the summit in 
order to be better equipped to plant churches in 
Paraguay. In celebration of their first fifty years of 
existence, they believe God wants to double their 
number of churches in the next five years. They 
came to the summit because they know that this 
vision requires spiritual renewal and new strategies.

At the same event, I also met a pastor from Brazil 
that God has called to plant churches in Canada. 
Several years ago, his church in Brazil was praying 
for the nations. As they listened to God, they were 
led to pray for the least-reached region of North 
America which, they discovered, was the province 
of Quebec. They sensed that they were called to 
send their best, so they sent their pastor. 

What bold mission prayers are we praying? Are we 
sending our best?

If our global MB family is to see greater synergy in our 
missional strategies, we need to work collaboratively 
on this one mission – local, national and global. 

We need to be aware that multiplication and 
addition are different; they require different 
strategies. But both require the renewal of faith in 
mission. As we embrace one mission, we need to 
understand the key to multiplication according to 
Jesus: “Unless a kernel of wheat falls to the ground 
and dies, it remains only a single seed. But if it 
dies, it produces many seeds” (John 12:24). 

Are we willing to die to ourselves to see God’s 
mission accomplished? 

At the same event in Vancouver, a Filipino pastor 
stood up and shared about how difficult it was for 
him to be in a room with 250 pastors. At the age 
of thirteen, he had been sexually abused by his 
youth pastor. When he disclosed the abuse, it had 
been covered up. In his anger against pastors, 
churches and God, he became a prodigal. He left 
the Philippines and ended up in Winnipeg. One 
night in a bar, the Father spoke to him and called 
him “home.” He cried out to God in brokenness 
and repentance, and experienced the love and 
forgiveness of the Lord. Then he began calling 
others to join him. In the following weeks, he led 
dozens of friends to Christ. A house church was 
started, which has now grown to dozens of house 
churches of new believers in Winnipeg!  

After hearing his story of abuse, I sensed the Lord 
speaking to me. I walked up to the podium and 
stood in the place of the spiritual leaders that had 
hurt this young man. I asked him to forgive us for 
misusing that authority and grieving God. He fell to 
his knees and cried out as his pain was released. 
We wept in each other’s arms and I prayed for 
more prodigals to come home. What happened 
that evening in Vancouver had an effect on what is 
happening now in Winnipeg and in the Philippines. 
The seed is multiplying worldwide! 

I am encouraged that one mission – local, national, 
global – is increasingly shaping our vision and 
practice as a global family of churches. Let’s 
continue to follow Jesus without wavering and to 
embrace his mission in the world today wherever 
he will lead us. 

Randy Friesen

BC Update
Our BC Mobilization Team is thankful for the 
opportunity to serve the churches within the 
BCMB Conference. As we continue to develop 
a collaborative approach to mission, we are 
seeking fresh ways to connect churches to 
pursue kingdom advancement. 
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Toward this end, we offered our first Partnership 
Postures Workshop (eighteen churches registered), 
opened a refugee welcome centre in Surrey in 
the midst of a large influx of Syrian refugees 

(several local churches 
engaged), led AWAKE 
evangelism training 
events that included a 
number of churches, and 
commissioned the Brown 
family to serve as long-
term global workers in 
Panama. 

Amazing things happen when our Christian faith is 
activated through mission. 

During our AWAKE outreach training events we 
continue to see lives changed: in Prince George, 
a new believer spent the afternoon prayer-walking 
a housing project, while learning in real time from 
seasoned believers how to listen to the voice of 
God; in South Abbotsford, a faithful but quiet-
spoken Christian was emboldened by the Spirit 
to ask his work supervisor a simple question that 
opened a profound gospel conversation. 

Meanwhile, working with refugees has awakened 
faith in Germany: a retired couple from the Fraser 
Valley witnessed profound kingdom advance which 
reoriented their life back at home, prompting them 
to volunteer with refugees in Surrey. 

In Myanmar, a BC pastor on a vision trip witnessed a 
village turn to Christ, awakening his heart to mobilize 
youth to reach their friends and families for Jesus. 

In Mexico City, a retired BC nurse on a Disciple 
Makers International (DMI) outreach was urged to 
pray for a woman suffering with cancer. The tumor 
suddenly disappeared. The nurse witnessed for 
the first time an immediate healing, and the healed 
woman turned to share Christ with all around her. 

In Thailand, a young leader from BC and his TREK 
teammates have grown in faith as they offer prayer 
weekly in a cancer clinic. A Buddhist monk received 
their ministry and testified that he felt peace and 
relief from pain while they were praying. 

In place after place, story after story, when people 
follow the Spirit into mission they grow in faith and 
see Christ’s kingdom advance. This is the disciple-

making way of Jesus that we want to see become 
commonplace in BC churches. 

We are available to train your short-term mission 
teams, speak about God’s call to mission at 
worship services or retreats and help discern and 
coach those who are considering their next step in 
mission involvement. 

Our team is: Greg Laing, Mission Mobilizer; Sam 
Dick, STM Mission Mobilizer; Lisa Klassen, STM 
Coordinator (beginning maternity leave this May); 
Liz Nickel and Susan Fox, Administrators; and 
Ivan Eytzen, STM Intern.

We warmly invite you to consider these 2017 
discipleship opportunities: 

• AWAKE is a season of Spirit-fueled renewal,
partnership and mission for a group of local
churches. It is a multi-generational and multi-
denominational movement that calls the people
of God to pursue Jesus on mission in the power
of the Holy Spirit. This is a collaborative ministry
of C2C Network and MB Mission.

• SOAR is a ten day
entry-level mission trip
within Canada. Last July,
SOAR Vancouver brought
seventy participants
together from five
different churches to
serve and testify. SOAR
Spring Break 2017
connected an outreach
team of twenty-one
participants from Wichita,
Kansas to help a local
church in Richmond, BC.

• TREK is an intense ten-month discipleship-in-
mission opportunity that puts participants in the
trenches with long-term workers overseas. Our
2016 teams are currently serving in Germany,
Lithuania and Thailand.

• DMI (Disciple Making International) is a two-
week mission trip during which participants
come alongside local churches to share their
testimonies and help disciple new believers.
In 2016, teams ministered in Philippines,
Colombia and Mexico City.

MB Mission
Report to Convention, Spring 2017
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Camp Likely
Report to Convention, Spring 2017

This summer was an exciting one, as we partnered 
with MDS, had a higher number of campers and 
most importantly, saw Jesus at work!

CAMPERS
We had 139 campers this summer, with many of 
them being long time Camp Likely campers! This is 
exciting for us, as this is a larger number then we 
have seen in the past years. Specifically, our teen 
camp had the most boys we have ever hosted, 
18! Kids 1 and 2 continue to be our most popular 
camps due to the age diversity (8-13) making it 
possible for siblings to attend together. 

Our campers learned about being transformed 
through the Inside Out, and the difference that Jesus 
first makes in our hearts. We saw many children 
choose to re-commit their lives to Christ and take 
reading the Bible seriously. Additionally, we had 
some children choose to make a first time decision 
to follow Jesus, which is always encouraging and 
exciting through the power of the Gospel! 

STAFF
We had 46 staff and volunteers this year. We had 
12 adult volunteers. Our staff were from Chilliwack, 
Surrey, Abbotsford, Williams Lake, and Kamloops. 
Many of our staff were first time staff, which was 

encouraging, as 99% of them had been campers 
and decided to come back in a staffing role. Our 
lead team this year was Nelson Bergen (Head 
Male Counselor), Jelisa Penner (Head Female 
Counsellor), Melissa Fraser (Program Director), 
and myself, Kate Reid, (Camp Director).

Staff make camp possible, and I just want to 
continue to extend a large thank you to the staff 
that enable us to serve so many.

JoAnne Janzen was phenomenal this year, in the 
kitchen as our head cook. She provided delicious 
and nutritious food, and we were continually 
amazed at her resourcefulness of ingredients!

MDS 
Mennonite Disaster Service served us for 4 weeks 
as various groups came from the Lower Mainland 
and Manitoba to build our four new cabins. 
MDS brought new life to camp, and overall the 
partnership was flawless. 

The partnership did require a lot of effort from 
both ends, and we are grateful for the work of 
the Camp Likely Trustee Committee for their 
involvement in the build, bringing supplies and 
helping out with the cabins. 
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SUMMER HIGHLIGHTS
• Partnering with MDS, and having their group

encourage and provide for us in a meaningful way

• Having Terry Fehr, the youth pastor at Cariboo
Bethel (Williams Lake) involved in our teen
camp as the speaker, and mentor. He spoke
from the heart, and delivered Jesus’ words in
such meaningful and insightful ways to these
teens. It is also pivotal to have Williams Lake
connections, and Terry’s presence has allowed
kids to recognize him as they are around town,
and hopefully take him up on his offer of a free
coffee time with Terry!

• Our staff really grew in spiritual maturity
this summer. They were tasked with a lot of
challenges with campers, and had to seek
God’s wisdom and guidance to answer tough
questions. I was encouraged to see their
desire to be leaders in all areas of their lives.
I’m praying that their heart of leadership, and
seeing God at work in all they do, continues as
they are in school, or work.

What a summer to celebrate! 

Kate Reid
Camp Director
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Pines Bible Camp
Report to Convention, Spring 2017

2016 marked the fifty-third year of ministry at Pines 
Bible Camp. Like all of the years that have come 
before, the Lord was faithful again to fill our camp. 
In May and June, over 700 kids visited our property 
and took home brochures as a part of our spring 
school program. In July and August, approximately 
thirty staff came on board to be trained and 
discipled, and to help facilitate summer camps 
wherein over four-hundred kids and teens heard 
the Gospel. For the many seeds that were planted 
last year, we continue to pray that they landed on 
good soil, and for those campers that accepted 
Christ, we continue to rejoice that more lost sheep 
were found and carried home on the shoulders of 
the good shepherd. 

In only a few short weeks, the 2017 Pines season 
will kick off with school programs. Praise the Lord 
that our May and June months are already nearly 
completely booked! From the school program 
season, we will then flow right into our summer 
camps which are, likewise, beginning to fill up. As 

a staff, we are prayerful and expectant of what the 
Lord has in store for us this year in both school 
programs and summer camps. It is our desire to 
see a great strengthening of relationships between 
Pines and the local Grand Forks Churches for 
the sake of the mission; to see unity and radical 
discipleship amongst our staff, that they might be 
relentless labourers of the Gospel; and to see as 
many campers as the Lord brings us, be loved and 
affirmed and to hear and receive the good and 
transforming news of Jesus. All that the name of 
the Lord might be lifted high above all names.

We would be blessed if you would consider joining 
us in prayer this season as we ask the Lord for 
His continual protection and provision and for a 
revival of spiritual hunger and life amongst staff 
and campers, that so many would leave saved, 
strengthened and satisfied in Him.

Director – Pines Bible Camp

Ryley Heppner
Camp Director
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Camp Bob
Report to Convention, Spring 2017

So then, just as you received Christ Jesus as Lord, 
continue to live in Him, rooted and built up in Him 
… that you may be filled to the measure of all the 
fullness of God.

Camp Bob at Roberts Lake is on the map!  It is 
becoming the new ‘go to’ place for parents to 
send their children to experience life in the great 
outdoors within a culture that promotes respect, 
honour and healthy lifestyle choices.  So many 
campers wanted to attend camp this past summer, 
that we overfilled every camp with one extra 
camper per tent and still had 30 campers on the 
‘waitlist’.  With over 42% of campers coming from 
non-churched backgrounds, we are increasing our 
accommodation footprint for Summer 2017 so that 
we do not have to turn anyone away.

This past summer, we hosted 506 campers, 
including 33 teens attending 6 weeks of Campfire 
Leadership Training programs and another 77 
campers attending Family Camp.  In addition, 
close to 40 women braved the elements of the 
wilderness in September to attend our first ever 
Women’s Weekend.  Truly, a new tradition has 
been born!  We have increased our Outbound 

program to include two back-country wilderness 
trips … a canoe trip on the 50 km Sayward 
Forest Canoe Route and a second backpacking 
hiking trip into the alpine of Strathcona Park.  
Due to limited staff available to lead these trips, 
we contracted our Outbound program to ZAO 
Ministries who specialize in wilderness excursions.  
We also hosted a ‘teacher group’ for a Pro-D Day 
overnighter pre-September start to the school year.  
We anticipate an increase in school group visits as 
a result of this connection.

We were blessed to have Jonathan Kornelson 
and the youth of Central Community come to 
serve and help us with Family Camp … a close to 
home Missions Trip for them that benefits us as a 
Camp.  In addition, the men of Jericho Ridge came 
pre-Summer to help with some vital projects that 
needed to be done before camp could begin.  Both 
groups have expressed interest in continuing to 
support Camp Bob going forward, and we are so 
appreciative of mainland churches that actually 
want to get involved in an island camp.

Many of you may not realize that camper fees 
do not actually cover the costs to run camp and 
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that, in an effort to keep Camp Bob affordable, we 
as Campfire Ministries actually subsidize every 
camper by approximately 50%.  Even so, many 
children and youth still cannot afford Summer 
Camp. Thankfully, once again, we were able to 
offer 54 campers financial assistance through 
the $12,688 donated to our Camper Bursary 
Fund.  What an incredible opportunity to be able 
to financially support so many campers, many of 
whom do not know Jesus Christ.  Your donations 
do make a difference!

Our staff is so great, and our Tent Leaders were 
so invested, carrying a momentum that didn't 
fade; both pouring love and life into their campers 
that led to many introductions to Jesus Christ 
and lives being transformed.  Our motto at Camp 
is ‘To change and inspire children’s hearts by 
encountering God through the testimony of Jesus 
Christ in us’ and this past Summer, 137 campers 
were changed and inspired because of a fresh 
encounter with Jesus Christ.  57 of the 77 first 
time commitments were made by non-churched 
campers, and 30 of the 60 re-commitments to 
Christ were from non-churched backgrounds.   

How exciting is that!  All praise and glory goes to 
our Lord and Saviour, Jesus Christ.

There is an excitement and enthusiasm among our 
staff as we head into Summer 2017.  Even though 
we as a Camp continually face many challenges, 
there is a momentum and a passion to press into 
the Vision God has given us for this place.  There 
is a desire to persevere, to run the race well, 
and to finish strong!  We are always so thankful 
for the many people who get involved in Camp 
ministry.  Whether it’s building outhouses or tent 
platforms, installing septic tanks or building a Low 
Ropes Challenge Course, helping in the kitchen or 
speaking at the camper Firesides, or praying for 
our staff and campers alike, we are forever grateful 
to all who volunteer and continue to support this 
ministry.

Camp Bob  -  it’s not just a place to come to ... it’s a 
place to go out from!

Respectfully submitted,

Les Klassen 
Executive Director - Campfire Ministries & Camp Bob



A L L W E NEED I N  CHR I S T40

Gardom Lake
Report to Convention, Spring 2017

Summer 2016 in a nutshell….
Summer Theme – “Dive In” – Sharing Gods Love, 
Grace, Forgiveness and Freedom to those that 
come to Gardom and Calling them to “Dive In” to a 
deeper relationship with Jesus.

John 14:4  
“Whoever drinks the water I give them will never 
thirst. Indeed, the water I give them will become in 
them a spring of water welling up to eternal life.”

CAMPERS: 
Summer 2016 has been an incredible summer; we 
had a record-breaking number of campers. There 
were 1587 campers that came through GLBC. Our 
main camp had 1272 campers attend through 9 
weeks of camp (including Pee Wee, Squirt Camp 
and Day Camp). Encounter had 212 campers 
attend during 8 weeks and Trinity Baptist Church 
(Kelowna) brought 23 campers for a 9th week of 
Encounter. The final week of August we welcomed 
80 youth through SYC. 

STAFF: 
GLBC had a full crew to support our campers and 
program with 76 Staff members. It was exciting to 
welcome many new staff members who had gone 
through the junior staff program, and now returned 
as cabin leaders. Our leadership team consisted 
of many GLBC vets. There were 65 Junior Staff 
throughout the summer (1st session 31) (2nd 
session 34); 16 Speakers and many “prayer 
warriors”. This year we had 19 staff that were going 
to college/university in the fall. The camp provided 

a sponsor letter so these staff could ask family and 
friends for financial support. We also started a Go 
Fund Me Campaign at the end of August, to raise 
additional funds for our scholarship fund. We still 
went over-budget in our scholarship fund, however, 
the majority of these funds were recovered through 
our fundraising efforts. 

CAMPERSHIPS: 
We also gave out 107 camperships to those 
that needed financial assistance. 83 of these 
camperships were sponsored through individual 
donations to GLBC, while 24 were sponsored 
through local churches. God was faithful through 
His people and all the funding came in before our 
summer season was over. 

SUMMER PROJECTS:  
The lodge expansion was put on hold through the 
summer; it is safer for the kids that are here and 
gave us some time to get some more drawings in.  
This fall we started with the siding and as winter 
moved in so did we, working on lodge updates.

Other upgrades include:

• Mattress fundraiser at KGF – 70 new
mattresses were sponsored, purchased, and
added to the rooms in the upstairs of the lodge.
Cabins received the former lodge mattresses,
and Encounter was able to get much better
mattresses as a result.

• Colorful bouldering wall near the basketball courts,
• Built a “lava forest” – low ropes course/

playground for our Encounter site
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• Upgraded Paint Ball course 
• Purchased new BMX bikes, and upgraded our 

BMX track 

SCHOOL GROUPS: 
School groups went extremely well throughout the 
spring, we are thankful for many new schools using 
us for the first time. We had 1325 students come 
out in the spring. This fall is also full with school 
groups; the highest numbers we have seen in my 
years at GLBC, at about 2240. In the fall, many of 
the groups are day groups, with only some groups 
booking overnight. (The spring season has more 
overnight groups). We are very glad to have so 
many students coming to camp this fall season. We 
have noticed that our staff is quite tired from the 
busy summer season, however, they continue to do 
a great job working with our fall program.  

RUN, WALK, CYCLE: 
The sun was bright and the weather was warmer 
than usual for our Run, Walk, Cycle fundraiser this 
year. We had about 70 participants come out with 
their families to enjoy the day. $26,000.00 was 
raised; we are so grateful!

NEW STAFF: 
We have been extremely blessed with our new 
Chef, Mark Griffin. He joined the team in March, 
and has successfully managed the transition of 
running the camp kitchen. He is a very skilled chef, 
and has learned to lead other staff, order food, 
grocery shop, etc. We are pleased to see him find 
his place in the culture of GLBC. 

Why we do camp! Through the Grace of God, we had 
767 campers share that they made spiritual decisions 
or commitments to follow Jesus and His teachings. 
252 of those were first time decisions to follow Christ 
and 515 recommitments in making Jesus #1 in their 
lives.  We were also blessed to have 7 baptisms of 
our summer staff here at camp. These staff wanted to 
take their faith to the next level, and what a privilege 
to be able to be a part of their journey in this act of 
obedience! We had a service with family, friends, 
church leaders, and camp staff there to witness and 
support these individuals. We are in awe of the God 
who guides us and the community of prayer warriors 
who pray for us. 

Rikk Kieft 
Camp Director
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Stillwood
Report to Convention, Spring 2017

As I reflect on 2016, I am once again amazed at 
what God has accomplished in this special place. 
It has been a very busy and exciting 2016 here 
at Stillwood and I thought you might enjoy some 
highlights of our ministry and activities.

Our Stillwood sponsored programs have long 
served our local church and community well and 
this year was no exception. Our children and 
youth ministry programs hosted more than 3,000 
children and youth in our summer camp and youth 
retreats. Many had a life changing experience; 
some accepting Christ for the first the time, many 
more recommitting their lives to Him and leaving 
with a new determination in their walk with Jesus. 
Since we know that the vast majority of people 
who express faith in Christ as adults, came to 
their decision point as children, we should never 
underestimate the significance of these moments 
in the lives of these young people; they remain our 
most important mission.

Beyond our summer program, approximately 400 
women came together at our Ladies Retreat in 
October for a wonderful time of fellowship and 
worship. They were challenged in their day-to-day 
walk with Jesus, with some making or renewing 
their commitment to follow Christ and others finding 
healing or rest in the fellowship of so many godly 
women. In 2016 we also hosted our first Family 
Camp as part of our regular summer program. 
While popular at some of our other camps, 
this event was a first for Stillwood and actually 

exceeded our expectations for a new program. 
We know from the enthusiasm of the participants 
and the responses that we have received since, 
that this program will grow significantly in years to 
come. If you want a great week at camp with the 
whole extended family, you should most definitely 
check it out for 2017!

Of course the highlight of our year was our 
Summer Camp program. How can I adequately 
express the thrill of seeing our programs full and 
overflowing? We had the privilege of demonstrating 
God’s love and His gospel message to more 
than 3,000 campers this season! How exciting to 
watch children and youth, from ages 5 through 
16, experience the week of a lifetime.  For many 
it was the first time they had experienced summer 
camp and I can say with confidence they were not 
disappointed. A combination of a great program, 
dedicated staff, excellent well-equipped facilities 
and God’s presence and protection, saw hundreds 
of lives transformed. More than 1,200 campers 
made a decision to follow Christ in 2016 and we 
are believing for many more decisions as the seeds 
of faith planted this past year are nurtured by Youth 
Pastors and church sponsors in the months to 
come. Often the very first seed of faith is planted in 
a child’s life at camp and we are so privileged to be 
a part of God’s plan.  Not wanting anyone to perish 
but everyone to come to repentance.  2 Peter 3:9.

Again this year we continue the development of 
our facilities with the construction of our much 
awaited Chapel, as you read this we are rejoicing 
in the fact that it is completed. As with all our capital 
development projects, this project is being entirely 
funded by generous followers of Christ, whom God 
has chosen to partner with us in ministry. This new 
chapel will be a fantastic meeting and worship 
space for our visiting groups. We also added 
considerable program equipment this past year in 
order to facilitate the number of campers who come 
to us.

While 2016 was a very busy and exciting year 
at Stillwood, it was also a year of challenge. To 
provide these programs for children and youth it 
is necessary to subsidize the cost, or camp would 
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simply be inaccessible for many children who 
want to come. A core value here at Stillwood is 
that “no child be denied a camp experience”. This 
commitment costs us more each year, as operating 
costs continue to rise and we work to keep the cost 
of camp as low as possible. This vital ministry to 
children and youth would not be possible without 
the generosity of our friends and partners in 
ministry. I salute you for your faithfulness.

At camp we are privileged to witness God at 
work in so many unique ways, we see youth from 
all walks of life make significant strides in their 
walk with Christ, renewing their commitment and 
developing a stronger witness for Christ to their 
peers on a daily basis. We are also witnesses to 
transformed lives in those who have no church 
background and no Christ centered influence in 
their lives.

Our summer staff is made up of some 230 
individuals ranging in age 15-75 yrs. of age, but 
the majority is under 25 years of age. These young 
people give up opportunities to work at a paying 
job for one where they volunteer and they are 
some of the most energetic, loving, and caring 
young people you will ever meet. As we observe 
these young people year after year and witness the 
leadership skills that they develop we know that we 
are privilege to be part of the development of future 
leaders in our communities.

Another very unique program is to Single Parents 
and their families. For many families this it is the 
event of the year. In 2016 we hosted nearly 50 
families at these two events.

Open House is another exciting event that we 
offer each year. For many families this is their first 
exposure to camp, and more specifically Stillwood. 

In 2016 we received more that 2600 people 
throughout the afternoon. We would encourage 
everyone to keep this event on your calendar as 
a great opportunity to experience Stillwood and to 
stay connected to the Stillwood family.  
Open House 2017; May 13,  
from 11:00AM -4:00PM, all are welcome

We could never accomplish this ministry without the 
help of hundreds of volunteers. So to all our valued 
volunteers we say a big thank-you.

Thank-you once again to all of our partners in this 
great outreach to the youth of our community, and 
to our community at large. The true impact of your 
contribution will only be revealed in eternity.

Respectfully submitted;

Harry E. Edwards,
Executive Director
12 For there is no difference between Jew and 
Gentile—the same Lord is Lord of all and richly 
blesses all who call on him, 13 for, “Everyone who 
calls on the name of the Lord will be saved.” 
14How, then, can they call on the one they have not 
believed in? And how can they believe in the one of 
whom they have not heard? And how can they hear 
without someone preaching to them?

Board of Directors -2015: Bergen, Jean (Harv) 
(2017); Dahl, Faith (Dave) (2018); Edwards, Harry 
(Gail) Executive Director  Loewen, Tim (Tracy)
(2019); Manuel ViJay (Sarah)(2017); Nikkel, 
Warren (Wanda)(2017);Redekop, John (Doris) 
(2018);Reimer, Colin (Sharon) (2017)Henry 
Martens (Elnora) (2018) Thiessen, Mark (Kristy) 
2018)
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Rules of Order
BCMB Convention 2017

General Guidelines

1. We strive for unity and respect, involving participation of all assembled,  
as we deliberate decisions that shape the future of our conference. 

2. Delegates should stand to speak at a nearby microphone.  
Please use the following protocol:

a. Wait for acknowledgement by the moderator.
b. State your name, church and community you come from.
c. Address the moderator. Delegates may not dialogue with each other 
on the floor.

3. Keep remarks to the point. Avoid repeating statements already made by 
another delegate.

4. Take care to confine remarks to the motion or resolution under discussion.

5. A delegate may speak to an issue more than once, unless there are other 
delegates who wish to address an issue. A delegate should not ask for the floor 
more than 3 times on one issue. The mover of a motion may answer questions 
to a motion as often as they are raised.

6. Individuals other than delegates may be permitted to speak, subject to the 
decision of the moderator. The assembled delegates may, by a simple majority 
vote, over-ride the decision of the chair. 

7. Only delegates are permitted to vote.

8. In general, Roberts Rules of Order will be followed. However, in an effort to 
build an atmosphere of collegiality and community, Consensus tools may be 
used, as described below. 
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2016 Minutes
BCMC Convention

BCMB	Convention	2016	Minutes   
April	29th-30th,	2016	
Main	Street	Church,	Chilliwack,	BC	
Friday	(April	29,	2016)	–	7:00	PM	

1. Opening	Prayer	–	Sharon	Simpson,	BCMB	Executive	Committee	Member

2. Worship	Celebration	–	Main	Street	Church

3. Welcome	by	Main	Street	Church	–	Shawn	Vandop,	Lead	Pastor
Shawn	welcomed	the	guests	on	behalf	of	Main	Street	Church	(9325	Main	Street,
Chilliwack,	BC	V2P	4M3).	He	shared	how	the	church	leadership	recognized	a	need	to
teach	on	prayer,	and	have	been	encouraging	their	congregation	to	be	attentive	to	what
God	is	saying	and	then	to	respond	to	it.	He	encouraged	the	delegates	to	do	the	same.

4. Welcome	to	Jubilee	Church	–	Michael	Dick,	Moderator	&	Rob	Thiessen,	Conference
Minister
It	was	noted	that	Jubilee	Church	is	BCMB’s	newest	church	plant,	and	that	the	name	was
chosen	to	proclaim	the	message	of	freedom.	Pastor	Jonathan	Headley	shared	how
meeting	in	a	community	school	in	Maple	Ridge	has	opened	doors	for	them	to	have
conversations	with	people	in	their	community	and	invite	them	to	church.	Paul	Bergen,
member	of	the	leadership	team	at	Maple	Ridge	Church	shared	about	unity	among	the
elders,	putting	the	Kingdom	first	and	following	God’s	leading.

Michael	Dick		joined	Rob	Thiessen	in	welcoming	Jubilee	Church	into	the	BCMB
Conference.	Michael	shared	Zechariah	4:6	for	Jubilee:	“Not	by	might	nor	by	power	but
by	my	Spirit,	says	the	Lord.”

5. Message	–	Dr.	Luis	Palau
Dr.	Palau	spoke	on	the	Convention	theme,	“Spirit	Empowered	Mission”	and	Acts	1:8,
“But	you	will	receive	power	when	the	Holy	Spirit	has	come	upon	you,	and	you	will	be	my
witnesses…”	Dr.	Palau	shared	that	when	he	was	thinking	about	coming	to	share	at
Convention,	he	felt	that	the	Lord	could	use	the	Mennonite	Brethren	all	across	Canada	to
be	in	tune	with	the	awakening	for	the	glory	of	God.	He	noted	that	now	that	he	is	here,
he	feels	this	is	the	case	–	God	is	on	the	move	in	Canada.	He	encouraged	the	gathering	to
be	faithful	in	the	little	things.

6. Prayer	–	Sharon	Simpson

7. Closing	–	Michael	Dick
Michael	closed	the	evening	with	a	blessing	from	John	in	Revelation	2:29:	“Anyone	with
ears	to	hear	must	listen	to	the	Spirit	and	understand	what	He	is	saying	to	the	churches.”
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Saturday	(April	30,	2016)	–	8:30	AM	

1. Welcome	–	Michael	Dick
Michael	welcomed	the	delegates	and	shared	Paul’s	encouragement	to	the	Galatians	–	to
let	the	Holy	Spirit	guide	our	lives.	He	noted	that	quorum	was	made	for	the	meeting,
with	53	churches	being	represented	and	158	delegates	registered.	He	requested	that
the	delegates	accept	Lorraine	Dick	as	Parliamentarian,	and	Brad	Sumner	and	Ken	Esau
as	the	Minutes	Review	Committee.

MOTION:	to	accept	Lorraine	Dick	as	Parliamentarian	(M/S/C)	
MOTION:	to	accept	Ken	Esau		and	Brad	Sumner	as	the	minutes	review	committee.	(M/S/C)	

2. Worship	–	Dean	Orrell	from	Main	Street	Church.

3. Message	–	Dr.	Luis	Palau
Rob	Thiessen	welcomed	Dr.	Luis	Palau	back	to	the	stage.	Dr.	Palau	noted	how	blessed
and	encouraged	he	was	to	see	how	God	is	raising	up	a	generation	of	young,	godly
pastors	with	attitudes	of	servanthood,	and	he	encouraged	the	delegates	to	finish	well

Dr.	Palau	read	from	John	15:1-17	regarding	the	fruitfulness	of	remaining	in	Christ	and
how	we	can	relish	the	overflowing	life	of	Christ	in	us,	by	the	fullness	of	the	Holy	Spirit.

4. Report	from	the	Conference	Minister	–	Rob	Thiessen
Rob	gave	a	review	of	his	report,	sharing	how	God	had	placed	this	year’s	Convention
theme	of	“Spirit	Empowered	Mission”	on	his	heart,	and	that	his	heart	for	us	as	churches
and	MBs	is	for	the	Spirit	to	be	working	in	and	through	us	–	that	with	Him	leading	us,
anything	is	possible.	Rob	noted	that	May	15th	is	Pentecost	Sunday,	which	is	known	as
the	“birthday	of	the	church.”	He	urged	the	churches	to	see	it	as	the	day	we	celebrate
the	power	of	God	coming	into	our	lives	and	churches	–	the	event	horizon	of	God’s	work
on	Earth	–	celebrating	how	His	spirit	empowered	us	and	then	spread	out.	He
encouraged	the	delegates	to	ask	the	Spirit	to	use	us,	and	to	protect	our	commitment	to
the	authority	of	Scripture	and	Gospel	preaching.

Rob	also	noted	the	MB	legacy	of	working	towards	peace,	ethics	and	justice	with	the
power	of	the	Spirit,	and	encouraged	the	delegates	to	lean	into	that	as	a	great	legacy	to
leave	behind.	Watching	how	churches	have	stepped	out	in	faith	in	helping	with	the
refugee	crisis	and	what	God	is	doing	through	this	work	has	encouraged	Rob	greatly.	He
introduced	three	people	who	are	currently	working	with	their	churches	to	sponsor	and
support	refugee	families:	Jenny	Toews	from	Richmond	Bethel,	James	Toews	from
Neighbourhood	Church	in	Nanaimo	and	Rick	Bayer	from	Grace	Point	in	Surrey.	They
each	shared	about	their	experiences,	and	how	encouraging	it	has	been	to	see	their
church	congregations	reflect	God’s	heart	in	caring	for	these	new	families	to	Canada,	and
what	a	blessing	they	have	received	in	return	despite	some	challenges.
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Rob	reflected	on	these	stories,	and	noted	that	when	we	do	something	and	step	out	in	
faith,	the	Holy	Spirit	meets	us.	He	encouraged	the	churches	to	keep	doing	kingdom	work	
and	experience	the	power	of	God	–	to	have	a	plan	in	place,	to	get	involved,	and	to	see	a	
need	and	meet	it.	He	noted	that	this	isn’t	doctrine	–	this	is	life;	and	when	we	are	afraid,	
God	replaces	our	fear	with	faith.	Rob’s	prayer	is	that	our	churches	would	be	alive	with	
the	presence	of	God,	that	people	will	come	to	know	Jesus,	and	that	God	will	be	glorified.	

5. Report	from	CBC	–	Bryan	Born,	President	&	Kurtis	Kube,	Development	Officer
Brian	shared	that	CBC	is	determined	more	than	ever	to	celebrate	their	identity	in	Christ,
and	he	and	Kurtis	shared	three	key	values	that	are	critical	at	CBC:

• Being	Christ-centred	–	knowing	Jesus,	knowing	His	Word,	and	seeing	students
land	on	the	Rock,	using	CBC	as	a	springboard	into	spirit-empowered	ministry.

• Being	Kingdom-focussed	–	acknowledging	Christ’s	lordship	over	all,	setting	a
foundation	for	the	students	who	go	into	full-time	ministry	or	missions	after	their
time	at	CBC,	serving	the	local	church,	and	equipping	the	students.

• Being	world-impacting	–	working	with	the	community	and	seeing	God	move	and
work	in	people’s	lives.	Bryan	shared	how	CBC	recently	signed	a	two-year	block
transfer	agreement	in	partnership	with	UFV,	thanks	to	the	moving	of	God’s
Spirit.

6. Report	from	MBBS	–	Bruce	Guenther,	President
Bruce	introduced	his	MBBS	team	that	was	present:	Brian	Cooper	-	Associate	Dean,
Eugine	Klassen	-	Development	Officer	(BC	&	AB),	Keith	Reed	-	Associate	Director	of
Ministry	Lift,	and	Jeff	Peters	-	Director	of	Advancement.	Jeff	shared	about	the	Apostle
Paul’s	encouragement	to	have	endurance	in	training	for	the	race	of	life,	and	about	being
empowered	by	the	Holy	Spirit	in	all	that	we	do.	They	shared	that	effective	mission
requires	some	sort	of	effective	preparation.

It	was	noted	that	MBBS	has	had	78	students	over	both	campuses	(Langley	and
Winnipeg)	this	past	year,	and	they	have	been	able	to	award	over	$50,000	in	bursaries,
not	including	L2L’s	matching	grant	of	25%	when	a	church	pays	25%.	It	was	also	noted
that	they	are	trying	to	make	seminary	more	accessible	by	allowing	up	to	two-thirds	of
their	Masters	of	Divinity	to	be	done	on-line.	This	is	helping	them	keep	training
opportunities	open	to	leaders	across	Canada	as	they	plan	for	the	future.

Keith	shared	about	Ministry	Lift’s	non-formal	delivery	of	graduate	level	teaching,
equipping	men	and	women	in	their	ministry	work.	This	includes	conferences,	a	library	of
video	training,	live	streaming,	and	workshops	for	church	staff	or	congregants	to	use	as	a
resource.

Bruce	shared	some	highlights	of	his	MBBS	report,	including	their	goal	to	double	their
capacity	in	five	years	and	become	multi-denominational	through	partnerships,	as	well	as
his	transition	back	into	a	full-time	teaching	role.	Michael	Dick	honoured	Bruce,
expressing	thanks	and	appreciation	for	all	his	hard	work,	leadership	and	dedication	in
the	last	five	years	to	ensure	that	seminary	education	is	relevant	and	effective	in	our	day.
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Michael	noted	Bruce’s	character	of	leadership,	integrity	of	heart	and	love	for	the	
conference	and	seminary.	He	then	prayed	over	Bruce	and	MBBS.	

7. Q&A
Michael	Dick	opened	up	the	floor	for	questions	regarding	the	reports	from	Rob
Thiessen,	CBC	and	MBBS,	noting	the	meeting’s	Rules	of	Order	on	page	42.	There	were
no	questions	or	comments.

8. Prayer	–	Sharon	Simpson

9. Report	from	Leaders2Learners	–	Ron	Toews,	Director
Ron	read	from	John	21:6	when	Jesus	told	his	disciples	to	“Cast	the	net	on	the	right	side
of	the	boat…”	Ron	shared	how	God	spoke	to	him	about	this	verse	and	the	command	of
Jesus	to	engage	differently	when	walking	along	side	a	lot	of	different	people	–	‘to	fish	on
the	other	side’.

Ron	noted	that	L2L	uses	two	ways	of	coaching:	“Coach	Me”,	which	is	more	about	asking
and	directing	in	training	others	to	coach;	and	“Coach	Us”	which	is	training	for	churches
to	gain	clarity	around	their	mission,	working	with	their	data,	and	helping	transitional
pastors	engage	churches.	He	also	noted	that	L2L	willingly	steps	into	church	conflict	to
traffic-in	hope	–	hope	that	the	conflicts	won’t	be	wasted	and	that	the	Holy	Spirit	will
enable	these	churches	to	be	renewed.	Furthermore,	L2L	has	been	offering	churches	and
individuals	help	in	three	other	areas:	personal	refocusing,	a	weekend	seminar	to	help
people	listen	well	for	the	Holy	Spirit;	‘Apex’,	a	process	to	help	people	figure	out	how
God	has	wired	them	to	make	a	difference;	and	the	‘Resonance	Seminar’,	which	was	a
recently-piloted	seminar	to	help	people	learn	how	to	finish	their	life	journey	well	and
discover	what	kind	of	leadership	development	God	is	calling	them	to.

Ron	concluded	by	sharing	two	more	key	elements	of	L2L	–	the	great	resource	of	their
website	reserve	of	documents	and	other	resources	from	churches,	for	churches;	and	the
discipleship	and	leadership	development	training	that	they	offer	to	churches	who	do	not
have	an	effective	discipleship	plan.

10. Report	from	MB	Mission	–	Greg	Laing,	Mission	Mobilizer	&	Sam	Dick,	Mobilization
Coordinator
Greg	shared	about	the	latest	developments	and	partnerships	of	MB	Mission,	and	talked
about	their	church-planting	ministry	abroad.	He	also	shared	how	they	are	seeing	more
intentionality	in	churches	about	cross-cultural	missions	in	their	own	communities	–	how
missions	from	everywhere	to	everywhere	is	happening.

Sam	shared	about	MB	Mission’s	partnership	with	C2C	and	the	local	churches	to	put	on
“Awake”	weekend	events,	where	churches	of	varying	denominations	come	together	in	a
unified	mission	–	“awake	my	soul”,	“awake	my	neighbourhood”,	and	“awake	my	world”.
He	shared	encouraging	stories	from	their	Awake	event	last	November	of	people	doing
life	and	mission	together	and	leading	others	to	Christ.	It	was	noted	that	the	next	Awake
events	will	take	place	in	Prince	George	in	August,	and	in	Abbotsford	in	September.	Sam
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also	noted	the	many	sponsorships,	partnerships	and	overseas	missions	happening	in	the	
wake	of	the	Syrian	refugee	crisis,	and	how	encouraging	it	is	to	be	involved	in	that.	

The	MB	Mission	report	concluded	with	an	introduction	of	a	new	missions	family,	Tony	
and	Sarah	Brown	who	have	trained	in	three	local	home	churches	–	Caribou	Bethel,	
North	Langley	and	Central	Heights	–	as	well	as	at	Camp	Likely.	They	shared	their	calling	
to	go	to	Panama	to	disciple	and	equip	young	leaders	there.	Rob	Thiessen	prayed	for	
Tony	and	Sarah	and	their	family.		

11. Q&A
Michael	Dick	opened	up	the	floor	for	questions	regarding	the	reports	from	L2L	and	MB
Mission.	There	were	no	questions	or	comments.

12. Report	from	the	Camp	Ministries	Committee	–	Ron	van	Akker,	Associate	Conference
Minister
Ron	shared	Camp	Ministries’	heart	to	see	children	and	young	adults’	hearts	turned	to
the	gospel.	He	noted	his	role	as	Director	of	Camp	Ministries,	helping	oversee	camp
ministry	alongside	the	camp	directors	and	committees,	and	shared	how	Camp	Ministries
exists	as	a	Christ-centred	ministry	of	the	conference.	Ron	was	encouraged	and	inspired
to	share	some	statistics	from	the	last	summer	season	at	our	five	camps	–	Camp	Likely,
Camp	Bob,	Stillwood	Camp,	Gardom	Lake	Bible	Camp,	and	Pines	Bible	Camp:

• 5500	children	and	youth	participated	in	camp	last	year
• 744	kids	in	BC	made	a	first-time	commitment	to	Christ
• 1400	kids	made	recommitments	to	Christ,	and
• 377	staff	served	at	our	camps

Ron	also	shared	about	Camp	Ministries’	Systems	Audit	that	was	completed	this	past	
year,	producing	a	recommendation	of	a	retooling	of	the	government	and	structure	of	
Camp	Ministries:	that	BCMB	create	a	dedicated	Camp	Society	with	a	unified	vision,	
comprehensive	oversight,	focused	missional	and	operations	oversight,	unified	
development	plan,	clear	lines	of	authority	and	accountability,	and	stronger	risk	
management;	and,	that	on-the-ground	ministry	would	consist	of	local	leadership	teams	
working	with	the	camps’	Executive	Directors	and	Camp	Directors,	bringing	greater	
accountability	and	collaboration.	Ron	reviewed	the	recommended	model	of	a	separate	
Camps	Society	with	the	gathering,	and	introduced	the	five	Camp	Directors:	Rikk	Kieft	
from	Gardom	Lake	Bible	Camp,	Les	Klassen	from	Camp	Bob,	Kate	Reid	from	Camp	Likely,	
Gene	Krahn	from	Pines	Bible	Camp	and	Harry	Edwards	from	Stillwood	Camp.	The	
gathering	heard	stories	from	Rikk	and	Les	about	the	impacts	of	camp	on	children	and	
their	families,	and	how	camp	is	not	just	a	place	to	go	to,	but	a	place	to	go	out	from.	

13. Q&A
Michael	Dick	opened	up	the	floor	for	questions	regarding	the	report	from	Camp
Ministries:

Q:	Is	this	restructuring	a	big	shift	for	the	camps?	How	are	you	walking	it	through	
with	the	individual	Camp	Boards	and	Directors?		
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A:	Ron	explained	how	he	met	with	the	Camp	Ministries	Committee,	then	the	
Camp	Board	Chairs,	then	the	Camp	Directors,	and	then	the	Camp	Boards,	and	
how	they	will	continue	to	work	it	through	together.		

Recommendation	#4:	
That	the	BC	Conference	of	Mennonite	Brethren	Churches,	in	keeping	with	the	recommendation	
of	legal	counsel,	Kuhn	and	Co.,	and	the	findings	of	a	systems	audit	of	camp	ministry,	establish	a	
Camps	Society	to	provide	comprehensive	oversight	to	the	camping	ministry	of	BCMB.	(M/S/C)	

14. Report	from	C2C	BC	-	Chris	Douglas	&	Ron	Leonard,	Regional	Directors
Chris	shared	how	God	is	doing	much	work	across	the	province	through	church
multiplication.	He	noted	that	when	pastors	ask	about	planting	a	church,	they	want	to
make	sure	they	find	out	their	motivations	for	doing	so.	He	shared	the	account	of	Jesus’
ministry	in	Matthew	4:23	–	that	Jesus	“went”.	They	want	to	see	people	“go”	and	move
beyond	the	walls	of	their	churches…	to	go	to	the	least	reached	places	of	their	cities.
They	want	to	see	and	hear	the	proclamation	of	the	gospel,	because	it’s	what	makes	a
difference.	Chris	noted	that	Jesus	was	meeting	needs,	and	they	hear	about	our	churches
and	people	meeting	the	needs	of	others,	and	they	want	to	see	lives	transformed
through	that...	“So	that	Jesus’	fame	spreads.”

Ron	talked	about	kingdom	advancement,	not	only	through	new	churches	being	started,
but	also	through	churches	starting	second	services,	multi-sites,	new	campuses,	etc.	He
noted	that	they	use	the	language	“church	planting”	but	they	include	the	various
multiplying	work	of	established	churches	in	that.	He	noted	that	they	have	partnered
with	thirty	churches,	helped	with	the	planting	of	twenty-five	churches	in	the	last	three
to	five	years	(thirteen	of	which	are	MB),	are	currently	working	with	and	equipping	five
apprentices	(four	of	which	are	MB),	and	have	seen	fifty-three	new	baptisms	out	of	their
church	plants	this	year	so	far.	Ron	clarified	that	they	do	not	function	as	C2C	for	the	sake
of	C2C,	but	for	the	sake	of	building	the	conference	of	MB	churches.	He	concluded	his
time	by	sharing	that	prayer	plays	a	big	part	in	their	work;	they	have	481	prayer	partners
in	BC	praying	for	the	church	planters,	church	multiplication,	and	more	‘workers	in	the
field’,	and	he	encouraged	the	delegates	to	become	prayer	partners.

15. Q&A
Michael	Dick	opened	up	the	floor	for	questions	regarding	the	report	from	C2C:

Q:	In	the	past,	churches	were	more	involved	in	encouraging	young	people	to	go	
to	seminary	to	become	pastors;	now,	it	seems	like	they’re	looking	to	individuals	
to	answer	the	call	–	where	is	the	church	in	this	call?		
A:	Ron	shared	that	churches	plant	churches,	C2C	doesn’t	plant	churches	–	that	
churches	still	have	the	responsibility	to	seek,	find,	and	equip	people	to	plant	
churches.		

16. Prayer	–	Sharon	Simpson

17. Report	from	CCMBC	–	Willy	Reimer,	Executive	Director
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Willy	shared,	“I	was	moved	by	Dr.	Palau’s	words	about	the	MBs	and	Canada,	and	how	
Dr.	Palau	reaffirmed	a	previous	prophetic	word	from	a	gathering	of	Canadian	leaders	in	
2012.”	He	felt	the	Spirit	was	saying	something	to	us	through	Dr.	Palau:	1.	That	this	is	a	
sacred	moment	in	time	–	God	is	on	the	move!	2.	That	there	is	a	holy	discontent	in	our	
leaders	wanting	God	to	move	in	profound	ways,	and	that	these	leaders	are	being	moved	
to	repentance	for	things	that	divide	us.	3.	That	we	will	be	called	to	account	for	what	we	
do	in	this	moment	4.	An	urging	that	we	would	be	a	lighthouse	in	this	country,	raising	the	
flag	of	Jesus	higher	than	our	MB	flag,	for	God’s	glory.	Willy	asked,	“What	are	we	doing	
to	see	those	things	happen?”	and	noted	that	it	begins	on	our	knees	in	prayer,	making	a	
plea	for	God	to	bring	His	revival	again.	He	noted	that	success	is	defined	by	our	
obedience	to	the	Lord,	and	encouraged	the	delegates	that	we	are	living	and	serving	in	
amazing	days	–	that	across	this	country,	people	are	asking	God	to	move	in	our	churches	
and	in	our	nation.	

18. Report	from	C2C	National	–	Gord	Fleming,	National	Director	of	Church	Planting	&	Len
Penner,	Assistant	Moderator	CCMBC	Executive	Board
Gord	gave	an	update	on	what	God	is	doing	in	Canada	through	our	family	of	believers,
and	pointed	out	their	need	to	partner	with	local	churches	in	order	for	God’s	kingdom	to
advance	–	the	Lord	has	called	us,	His	body,	to	be	His	hands	and	feet	and	extend	His
kingdom.	He	shared	the	need	for	prayer	for	more	workers	in	Quebec	–	the	least-
reached	place	in	all	of	the	Americas.

Len	shared	about	an	opportunity	that	started	when	the	US	MB	group	reached	out	to	MB
Mission	asking	for	help	with	church	planting,	and	were	diverted	to	C2C.	He	pointed	out
that	the	landscape	is	rapidly	changing	through	the	continued	growth	of	ethnic	diversity
in	Canada,	therefore	requiring	a	different	response.	C2C	has	been	approached	by	ethnic
groups,	asking	to	work	together,	and	he	noted	that	C2C	does	not	know	the	cultural
differences	well,	but	MB	Mission	does.	The	questions	have	been	asked	–	how	can	C2C,
MB	Mission	and	US	MB	work	together?	How	do	we	respond	in	helping	churches	reach
more	people?	What	is	our	vision	collectively	to	take	this	partnership	forward?	Should
they	merge	together,	or	does	it	better	serve	the	Kingdom	to	have	them	run	separately
but	complimentary?	Len	shared	their	intent	to	receive	feedback	from	each	of	the
provinces	and	then	to	go	to	Gathering	with	a	recommendation	for	moving	forward,	all
while	continuing	to	put	much	prayer	into	it.

19. Q&A
Michael	Dick	opened	the	floor	up	for	questions	about	the	report	from	CCMBC	and	C2C
National,	noting	that	the	CCMBC	Board	will	be	meeting	in	May,	and	then	a	proposal	will
be	brought	back	to	the	provincial	Executive	Boards.

Q:	Is	this	about	merging	MB	Mission	and	C2C,	or	partnering	with	US	MB?		
A:	The	US	MB	request	led	to	this	new	vision	of	merging	MB	Mission	and	C2C.	

Q:	If	you	are	moving	across	the	country	to	get	a	read	on	this,	how	are	you	
getting	the	read	and	what	is	the	read	at	this	point?		
A:	There	have	been	breakout	sessions	in	other	provinces,	and	the	leaders	have	
had	listening	ears	with	the	people	reporting	to	them,	noting	their	tone	and	
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critical	questions.	There	have	been	many	conversations	thus	far,	as	they	ask	and	
wrestle	with	many	questions.	

Q:	The	merge	feels	scary,	like	we	would	be	losing	something;	do	we	become	top-
heavy,	slower,	etc.?	Can	you	address	some	of	the	cons	–	the	worst	things	you	
have	thought	through	about	this	merger?	
A:	Len	noted	that	it	is	not	a	natural	response	to	say,	“Let’s	go!”	We	are	
evaluating	the	negative	implications	as	we	partner	in	a	collaborative	way	moving	
forward.	As	we	evaluate	these	pieces	and	collect	ideas	from	others,	we	will	come	
up	with	an	analysis	of	pros	and	cons.	It	was	noted	that	anyone	that	has	concerns	
can	feel	free	to	bring	them	forward	for	analysis	to	help	them	process	it.	They	will	
be	coming	back	into	the	provinces	to	have	deeper	conversations,	as	they	know	
more.	Willy	reminded	the	gathering	that	it	is	important	to	remember	to	ask,	
“What	is	the	Lord	saying?”		

Q:	With	C2C’s	partnership	with	multiple	denominations,	how	do	the	partner	
churches	have	a	say?		
A:	The	other	denominations	understand	that	C2C	is	MB	based.		

20. Report	from	the	Nominations	Committee	–	Reuben	Pauls,	Chair
Reuben	thanked	the	team	and	churches	that	sent	nominations	in,	and	to	those	who
have	served	on	BCMB	committees.	He	then	clarified	some	corrections	needed	on	the
ballots,	and	the	delegates	completed	the	ballots.

21. Report	from	the	Pastoral	Ministries	Committee		–	Lorraine	Dick	&	Bruce	Guenther,	Co-
Chairs
Lorraine	shared	some	highlights	of	the	ministry	work	of	the	PMC,	including	the	chance
to	interact	with	a	wide	range	of	people,	and	noted	their	goal	to	have	all	BCMB	pastors
credentialed	within	two	years	of	them	starting	at	a	church.	She	thanked	the	team,	and
noted	Bruce’s	completion	of	his	term	on	the	PMC.

Bruce	noted	the	connection	between	the	Board	of	Faith	and	Life	and	the	Pastoral
Ministries	Committee,	with	BFL	representative,	Brian	Cooper,	now	on	the	PMC.	He
shared	their	ongoing	desire	to	continue	to	make	the	credentialing	process	better,	noting
their	revised	questionnaire	and	the	incorporation	of	compulsory	attendance	of	Sacred
Trust	and	PCO.	He	also	noted	the	new	implementations	of	two	credentialing	categories
– “Provincial”,	for	pastors	who	serve	within	the	BC	conference	in	substantial	leadership,
holding	a	more	thorough	knowledge;	and	“Local”,	for	pastors	who	serve	within	a
specific	church	and	ministry	role.	Bruce	shared	that	the	purpose	for	these	two
categories	is	to	enable	the	BC	conference	and	congregations	to	recognize	and	affirm	a
wider	range	of	pastors	who	are	active	while	broadening	the	bandwidth

22. Q&A
Michael	Dick	opened	up	the	floor	for	questions	regarding	the	reports	from	the
Nominations	and	Pastoral	Ministries	committees.	There	were	no	questions	or
comments.
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23. Report	from	the	Management	Committee	–	Denis	Federau,	former	Chair	&	Rachel	
Wiebe	from	Loewen	Kruse	CPA	
Denis	noted	that	he	had	been	the	chair	of	the	Management	Committee,	but	is	now	
serving	as	the	Director	of	Ministry	Resources	at	BCMB.	He	shared	that,	thanks	to	the	
faithfulness	of	BCMB	churches,	the	grace	of	God	and	the	moving	of	His	spirit,	we	have	
surpassed	our	goal	of	donations	this	past	year.	He	noted	that	the	Management	
Committee	is	here	to	facilitate	ministry	for	churches	and	camps	by	walking	with	them	
through	such	things	as	mortgage	approvals,	church	closures,	church	transitions,	and	
insurance	claims.		
	
Rachel	presented	the	financial	reports,	noting	that	there	were	no	concerns	from	the	
review	engagement,	that	BCMB	is	in	a	strong	financial	position,	and	that	the	2015	
budget	was	exceeded.	
	

Recommendation	#5:	
That	the	2017	income	budget	for	the	churches’	support,	through	their	Ministry	Commitment,	
be	set	at	$1,650,000.	(M/S/C)	

	
Recommendation	#6:	
That	the	financial	statements,	prepared	by	Loewen	Kruse	Chartered	Accountants	for	the	fiscal	
year	2015,	be	approved	as	presented.	(M/S/C)	
	
Recommendation	#7:	
That	we	appoint	Loewen	Kruse	Chartered	Accountants	as	the	accounting	firm	to	perform	a	
review	of	the	financial	records	and	prepare	the	financial	statements	for	the	year	2016.	(M/S/C)	

	
24. Commissioning	of	Denis	Federau	–	Rob	Thiessen	

Rob	affirmed	Denis	in	his	new	role	as	the	Director	of	Ministry	Resources	at	BCMB	and	
prayed	over	him.	
	

25. Report	from	the	Moderator		–	Michael	Dick	
Michael	Dick	recognized	BCMB’s	Executive	Board	members,	who	seek	to	give	leadership	
to	the	conference,	and	thanked	the	churches	that	have	released	these	individuals	to	
serve	in	such	a	capacity.	
	
Rob	Thiessen	thanked	Michael,	recognizing	and	commending	him	for	his	years	of	service	
as	Moderator.	

	
Michael	noted	the	churches	that	BCMB	is	releasing,	pointing	out	that	it	is	not	out	of	
failure,	but	merely	time	for	transition.	He	encouraged	the	delegates	to	remember	that	
these	churches	have	touched	lives	for	eternity.	

	
Recommendation	#2:	
That	the	British	Columbia	Conference	of	Mennonite	Brethren	Churches	release	the	following	
churches	from	membership:		

•	Northgate	Mennonite	Brethren	Church	(Dawson	Creek)	(M/S/C)	
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•	The	Fire	(New	Hazelton)	(M/S/C)	
	
Recommendation	#3:	
That	the	BC	Conference	of	Mennonite	Brethren	Churches	affirm	the	determination	of	Westside	
Church,	Vancouver,	Crossridge	Church,	Surrey,	and	Christ	City	Church,	Vancouver,	to	form	
individual	societies.	(M/S/C,	as	edited)		
	
Recommendation	#1:		
That	all	ministry	reports	be	approved.	(M/S/C)	
	

26. Voting	Results		
All	individuals		affirmed.	

	

Motion:	to	destroy	the	voting	ballots.	(M/S/C)	
	

27. Prayer	–	led	by	Sharon	Simpson			
	

28. Worship,	led	by	Main	Street	Church	
	

29. Closing	Comments	–	Michael	Dick		
Michael	thanked	Main	Street	Church	for	hosting	this	year’s	BCMB	Convention,	and	
closed	with	Paul’s	urging	to	the	Galatians:	“If	we	live	by	the	Spirit,	let	us	also	keep	in	
step	with	the	Spirit.”	Gal.	5:25	
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2017 Board Members & Nominees
Provincial Boards & Committees

BC Conference of MB Churches 
2017 Board Members and Nominees proposed  

	

	

	

BOARD	 NAME,	CHURCH,	
(YEAR	ELECTED)	

CURRENT	
TERM	

EXPIRY	

ELIGIBLE	
FOR	RE-
ELECTIO

N	

NOMINEES	

Executive	
Committee	

(6)	

3	Consecutive,	2	YEAR		TERMS	=	6	Years	
	

Eligible	for	three	–		
2	year	terms	

(1	to	be	affirmed)	

Moderator	 Don	Petker	(Kingroad)	(16)	 2018		 Y	 	

	 Matt	Ewert	(South	Abbotsford)	
(15/16)	 2018	 Y	 	

Secretary	 Sharon	Simpson	(Broadway)	
(14/15)	 2017	 Y	 Sharon	Simpson		

Member	at	Large	 Tim	McCarthy	(North	Langley)	(16)	 2017	 Y	 Tim	McCarthy	

Member	at	Large	 Brett	Landry	(Christ	City)	(16)	 2018	 Y	 	

Member	at	Large	 James	Nikkel	(Bakerview)	(16)	 2017	 Y	 James	Nikkel	

Pastoral	
Ministries	Com.	

(9)	
3	Consecutive,	2	YEAR	TERMS	=	6	Years	

Eligible	for	three	–		
2	year	terms	

(2	to	be	affirmed)	

	 Wes	Dahl	(S.Langley)(16)	 2018	 Y	 	

	
Paul	Lam	(Burnaby	Pacific	Grace)	

(13)	 2017	 Y	 Paul	Lam	

	
Brian	Cooper	(Mountain	Park	

Church)	
(16)	

2018	 Y	 	

	 Cam	Stuart	(Sardis	Community)	(13)	 2017	 N	 Tom	Cheung	

	 Lorraine	Dick	(HFAN)	(13)	 2017	 N	 	

	
Ken	Peters	(Saanich	Community	

Church)	(16)	 2018	 Y	 	

	
Connie	Siebert(South	Abbotsford	

Church)(16)	 2018	 Y	 	

	
Eldon	Fehr	(Central	Community)	

(15)	 2017	 N	 	

	
Judy	Harms-Wiebe	(Willingdon)	

(16)	 2018	 Y	 	

C2C	Network,	BC	
Region		

(6)	

3	Consecutive,	2	YEAR	TERMS	=	6	Years	
(self-organizes)	

Eligible	for	three	–		
2	year	terms	

(?		to	be	affirmed)	

	 Norm	Funk	(Westside)			
(08/09)	 2015	 Y	 Norm	Funk	

	 Lee	Francois	(Crossridge)	(17/19)	 2019	 Y	 Lee	Francois	

	 Matt	Shantz	(Central	Community)	
(17/19)	 2019	 Y	 Matt	Shantz	

	 Selwyn	Uittenbosch	
(Northview)(14)	 2018	 Y	 	

	 	 	 	 	

	 Paul	Wicki	(Culloden)	(12)	 2018	 Y	 	

	 	 	 	 	



A L L W E NEED I N  CHR I S T56

BC Conference of MB Churches 
2017 Board Members and Nominees proposed  

	

BOARD	 NAME,	CHURCH,	
(YEAR	ELECTED)	

CURRENT	
TERM	EXPIRY	

ELIGIBL
E	FOR	
RE-

ELECTIO
N	

NOMINEES	

Management	
Committee	

(7)	

3	Consecutive,	2	YEAR	TERMS	=	6	Years	

(self-organizes)	

Eligible	for	three	–		
2	year	terms	

(5	to	be	affirmed)	
	

	 Leonard	Klassen	(King	Road)	(15)	 2017	 Y	 Leonard	Klassen	

	 Harvey	Schmidt	(Northview	
Community	Church)	(16)	 2018	 Y	 	

	 Ron	Born	(South	Abbotsford)	(15)		 2017	 Y	 Ron	Born	

	 Hans	Krueger	(Cedar	Park)	(11)	 2017	 N	 Reg	Toews	

	 Daniel	Lichty	(Central	Heights)	
(15/16)	 2018	 Y	 	

	 Herb	Thiessen	(N.	Langley)	(11)	 2017	 N	 Don	Pasiuk	

	 Linda	Funk	(Bakerview)(15)	 2017	 Y	 Linda	Funk	

BCMB	Bible	
Camp	Member	

Note-Camp	Ministries	Committee	has	been	replaced	by	BCMB	
Bible	Camp	Society	

1	year	renewable	term	(max	6	years)	

Eligible	for	six	–		
1	year	terms	

(5	to	be	affirmed)	
	

	 Art	Lowen	 2018	 	 Art	Lowen	

	 Devin	Chursinoff	(Gospel	Chapel)	 2018	 	 Devin	Chursinoff	

	 Larry	Martin	(Discovery)	 2018	 	 Larry	Martin	

	 Carla	Thiessen	(Bakerview)	 2018	 	 Carla	Thiessen	

	 Andrew	Thiessen	(Central	Heights)	 2018	 	 Andrew	Thiessen	

	

	

	

	

	

	

2017 Board Members & Nominees
Provincial Boards & Committees



57

BC Conference of MB Churches 
2017 Board Members and Nominees proposed  

	

BOARD	
NAME,	CHURCH,	
(YEAR	ELECTED)	

CURRENT	
TERM	EXPIRY	

ELIGIBL
E	FOR	
RE-

ELECTIO
N	

NOMINEES	

BC	Rep	to	Board	
of	Faith	and	Life																							

(1)	

2	Consecutive,	4	YEAR	TERMS	=	8	Years	
(Each	province	elects	one	member)	

Eligible	for	two	-	4	
year	terms		

(none	to	be	affirmed)	

	 Brian	Cooper	(Mountain	Park	
Church)	(10)	 2018	 N	 	

Reps	to	MCC	BC	
Exec.	Com	

(5)	

3	Consecutive,	3	YEAR	TERMS	=	9	Years	
	

Eligible	for	three	-	3	
year	terms	

	(1	to	be	affirmed)	

	 James	Toews	(Neighbourhood)	(14)		 2017	 Y	 James	Toews	

	 Tim	Kroeker	(Northview)	(13)	 2018	 Y	 	

	 Don	Klassen	(Sardis	Community)	
(15)	 2018	 N	 	

	 Peter	Wolfe	(South	Langley)	(12)	 2018	 Y	 	

	 Sharon	Simpson	(Broadway)	(15)	 2018	 Y	 	

BCMB	members	
on	CBC	

nominations	
Committee	(3)	

3	Consecutive,	3	YEAR	TERMS	=	9	Years	
(3	members	of	which	1	is	a	CBC	Director	from	BCMB)		

(Annual	Renewal)	

CBC	AGM	is	October	
2015	

(none	to	be	affirmed)	

	 Kyle	Meeker	(Northview)	(16)	 2019	 N	 	

	 Doreen	Dahl	(South	Langley)	(13)	 2019	 N	 	

	 Jon	Wiebe	(South	Abbotsford)	(13)	 2019	 N	 	

BCMB	
Discernment	
Committee	

(see	protocol,	
next	page)	

Affirmed	each	year	
(Assistant	Moderator	and	1	member	of	the		

Executive	Board	PLUS	3	members	at	large	discerned	by	the	
Executive	Board)	

	

Chosen	by	Executive	
Board	to	be	ratified	

by	delegates	
(3	to	be	affirmed)	

	 Betty	Loeppky	(Kelowna	Gospel)	
(13)	 2017	 Y	 Betty	Loeppky	

	 Barrie	McMaster	(Broadway)	(13)	 2017	 Y	 Barrie	McMaster	

	 Steve	Berg	(South	Abbotsford)	(15)	 2017	 Y	 Steve	Berg	
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Biographical Sketches
BCMB Convention 2017

Tom Cheung
Pastoral Ministries Committee

Tom has served as the pastor 
of Port Moody Pacific Grace 
MB Church since 2009, and 
previously served at Oakridge 

Baptist Church for around 4 years. Prior to entering 
ministry, Tom worked in the IT field for 13 years. 
Tom is married to Athens and they have three 
children: Solomon, Benjamin, and Elisha. Tom loves 
preaching and loves to see people having a true, 
authentic encounter with Jesus.

TBA
Pastoral Ministries Committee

TBA
Pastoral Ministries Committee

Matt Shantz
C2C

Matt Shantz is the Lead Pastor 
at Central Community Church in 
Chilliwack, BC. He and his wife 
Emily have two boys. His aim 

is to love those in his community like Jesus and tell 
them about Jesus.

Don Pasiuk
BCMB Management Committee

Don Pasiuk, age 61, is a retired 
businessman.  He was raised 
in a Christian home, accepted 
the Lord at an early age, and 

has been true to the faith all his life.  He worked full 
time in the family business for 39 years in a variety 
of positions. Since his father’s retirement in 1995, 
he was President and Chief Executive Officer of 
Peterbilt Pacific Inc., operating 5 dealerships in B.C.

and managing a staff of 235 employees.  
The company was sold in 2015, prompting  
Don’s retirement.

He has held numerous positions in church ministry 
including treasurer, personnel committee, finance 
committee and board member.  He presently 
serves on the Mennonite Brethren Seminary board 
and is a member of the finance committee.

Don, and his wife, Orilyn, are members of Northview 
Community Church.  They have four adult children 
and eleven grandchildren.  They have made their 
home in Abbotsford for the last 22 Years.

Reg Toews
BCMB Management Committee

Reg has served as a pastor for 
over 33 years in four different 
churches. He is presently 
serving as a Transitional 

Pastor in Saskatchewan. In the past, Reg has 
served with the BCMB conference as Moderator, 
Executive Committee member, and on the 
Executive Board. He has also served on the 
BC C2C Regional Leadership Team for the past 
two years as the chairman. He enjoys going out 
for a ride on his motorcycle with friends and his 
wife, Brenda. They have three children and four, 
almost five, grandchildren.

Arthur Loewen
BCMB Bible Camp Society

Arthur Loewen is a retired 
school teacher. Besides 
teaching, he owned a 
successful tree farm which he 

sold to his son. He has been involved with Christian 
camps for almost 60 years. He has counselled at 
camps, run weekend retreats, served on numerous 
camp boards (including chairing them) and still 
volunteers at camps. For almost 20 years, he has 
led Disciple Making International teams to the 
Philippines, where he spearheaded planting the 
first Mennonite Brethren churches. 
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Andrew Thiessen
BCMB Bible Camp Society

Andrew lives in Abbotsford and 
is married to Gloria, with whom 
he has a five month old son 
named Elliot.  He is a plumber 

by trade and works in property management and 
building maintenance.  Previously, Andrew has 
served on the Camps Ministry Committee and has 
a desire to see this ministry continue to thrive in 
our province.  Andrew and his family attend Central 
Heights Church, where he and Gloria are currently 
volunteering as leaders in the young adult ministry.

Carla Thiessen
BCMB Bible Camp Society

Carla lives in Abbotsford with 
her husband Brad (Married 8 
years) and two children, Peter (3 
years old) and Ruth (18 months). 

Currently serving as youth pastor at Bakerview 
Church for the past 4 years, she has always had a 
passion for ministry. Carla has served at Stillwood 
Camp as a counselor as well as attended other 
camps in the lower mainland for various reasons.  
Carla has a passion for Camp ministry and is 
honoured to be nominated in this capacity.

Devin Chursinoff
BCMB Bible Camp Society

Devin, his wife Brittani, and 
1 year old son, Wade, live in 
Grand Forks. He was born and 
raised there, attending Pines 

Bible Camp as a kid, giving his life to Christ 
there, and going on to work summers at the 
camp. Currently, he is employed as a Millwright 
at the local sawmill. Devin enjoys time in the 
outdoors: hunting, fishing and cattle ranching on 
the family ranch.

Larry Martin
BCMB Bible Camp Society

Larry Martin was born and 
raised in Vancouver and 
after completing his degree 
in financial management 

at B.C.I.T., Larry worked in the trust company 
industry for five years. Larry attended Briercrest 
Bible College in Saskatchewan, receiving an 
honors degree in Biblical Studies before returning 
to Langley, B.C., where he was active in his local 
church while owning and operating a painting 
business. During this time, Larry began studies 
at A.C.T.S. before transferring to Trinity Divinity 
School in Chicago for the completion of his MDiv. 
This has led to over 22 years of pastoral ministry, 
including his service at Discovery Community 
Church in Campbell River, where he is in his ninth 
year serving as Lead Pastor.
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Recommendations
For Convention

1. That all ministry reports be approved. 

2. That the British Columbia Conference of Mennonite Brethren 
Churches close the following churches and release them from 
membership;

• Similkameen Christian Fellowship (Keremeos)
• Hyde Creek (Port Coquitlam)

3. That the BC Conference of Mennonite Brethren Churches 
welcome the following church plants to BCMB; 

• City Life (Abbotsford - Highstreet)
• North Langley Community Church - Yorkson Campus 

(Langley - Richard Bulpitt Elementary)

4. That the 2018 income budget for the churches’ support, through 
their Ministry Commitment, be set at $1,549,990

5. That the financial statements, prepared by Loewen Kruse 
Chartered Accountants for the fiscal year 2017, be approved as 
presented. 

6. That we appoint Loewen Kruse Chartered Accountants as the 
accounting firm to perform a review of the financial records and 
prepare the financial statements for the year 2017. 

7. That the BC Conference of Mennonite Brethren Churches 
empower the Executive Board to revise the bylaws of the 
Conference in keeping with the requirement of the new BC 
Societies Act.
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Financial Overview
BCMB Convention 2017

BCMB Budget Summary
2016 2017

Income
Church Subsidy $1,625,000.00 $1,549,990.00
Other $164,270.00 $154,200.00
From Reserves $88,000.00 $107,500.00
Total Income $1,877,270.00 $1,811,690.00

Expenses
Developing Leaders $492,020.00 $455,086.00
Multiplying Churches $541,330.00 $580,946.00
Resourcing Ministries $67,410.00 $54,720.00
Building Community $133,250.00 $161,800.00
Executive Boards and Committees $432,024.00 $400,100.00
Admin & Office $189,873.00 $158,784.00
Total Expenses $1,855,907.00 $1,811,436.00

Difference $21,363.00 $254.00
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$ Amount of Ministry 
Commitment # of Churches

% of All 
Churches

Total Ministry 
Commitment

% of Total 
Ministry 

Commitment
$0.00 23 22.5% -                       0.0%
$1 UP TO $9,999 41 40.2% 157,520              10.3%
$10,000 UP TO $49,999 34 33.3% 716,131              46.7%
$50,000 UP TO $99,999 2 2.0% 169,693              11.1%
$100,000 and OVER 2 2.0% 489,992              32.0%

102 100% 1,533,335           100%

CHURCHES ACTUAL GIVING TO MINISTRY COMMITMENT

23

41

34

2 2

$0.00

$1 UP TO $9,999

$10,000 UP TO $49,999

$50,000 UP TO $99,999

$100,000 and OVER

2016 ACTUAL SOURCE OF REVENUE $ Amount % of Total 
Ministry Commitment From Churches 1,555,925                  87.02%
Other Income 108,470                     6.07%
Restricted Funds Revenue 57,973                       3.24%
Recoveries 51,420                       2.88%
Donations, Fundraising & Support 14,164                       0.79%
Government Funding -                              0.00%

1,787,952$                100%

2016 Actual Source of Revenue

Ministry Commitment From Churches

Other Income

Restricted Funds Revenue

Recoveries

Donations, Fundraising & Support

Government Funding

REVIEW ENGAGEMENT REPORT

To the Members of The B.C. Conference of the Mennonite Brethren Churches  

We have reviewed the non-consolidated statement of financial position of The B.C. Conference of the
Mennonite Brethren Churches as at December 31, 2016 and the non-consolidated statements of
operations, changes in fund balances and cash flows for the year then ended. Our review was made in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted standards for review engagements and, accordingly,
consisted primarily of inquiry, analytical procedures and discussion related to information supplied to us
by the Conference.

A review does not constitute an audit and, consequently, we do not express an audit opinion on these
financial statements.

Under Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations, the church properties (Note 5)
recognized this year should be presented at their carrying value. The effect of this departure from
Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations on the accompanying non-consolidated
financial statements is to overstate the church properties asset. The amount of the misstatement is not
determinable based on the information available.

Except for the failure, as described in the preceding paragraph, to properly value the church properties,
nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that these non-consolidated financial
statements are not, in all material respects, in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-
for-profit organizations.

Burnaby, British Columbia
March 16, 2017 Chartered Professional Accountants

1

d Professional Accountants
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Financial Statements
Loewen & Cruse

REVIEW ENGAGEMENT REPORT

To the Members of The B.C. Conference of the Mennonite Brethren Churches  

We have reviewed the non-consolidated statement of financial position of The B.C. Conference of the
Mennonite Brethren Churches as at December 31, 2016 and the non-consolidated statements of
operations, changes in fund balances and cash flows for the year then ended. Our review was made in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted standards for review engagements and, accordingly,
consisted primarily of inquiry, analytical procedures and discussion related to information supplied to us
by the Conference.

A review does not constitute an audit and, consequently, we do not express an audit opinion on these
financial statements.

Under Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations, the church properties (Note 5)
recognized this year should be presented at their carrying value. The effect of this departure from
Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations on the accompanying non-consolidated
financial statements is to overstate the church properties asset. The amount of the misstatement is not
determinable based on the information available.

Except for the failure, as described in the preceding paragraph, to properly value the church properties,
nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that these non-consolidated financial
statements are not, in all material respects, in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-
for-profit organizations.

Burnaby, British Columbia
March 16, 2017 Chartered Professional Accountants

1

d Professional Accountants

REVIEW ENGAGEMENT REPORT

To the Members of The B.C. Conference of the Mennonite Brethren Churches  

We have reviewed the non-consolidated statement of financial position of The B.C. Conference of the
Mennonite Brethren Churches as at December 31, 2016 and the non-consolidated statements of
operations, changes in fund balances and cash flows for the year then ended. Our review was made in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted standards for review engagements and, accordingly,
consisted primarily of inquiry, analytical procedures and discussion related to information supplied to us
by the Conference.

A review does not constitute an audit and, consequently, we do not express an audit opinion on these
financial statements.

Under Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations, the church properties (Note 5)
recognized this year should be presented at their carrying value. The effect of this departure from
Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations on the accompanying non-consolidated
financial statements is to overstate the church properties asset. The amount of the misstatement is not
determinable based on the information available.

Except for the failure, as described in the preceding paragraph, to properly value the church properties,
nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that these non-consolidated financial
statements are not, in all material respects, in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-
for-profit organizations.

Burnaby, British Columbia
March 16, 2017 Chartered Professional Accountants
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THE B.C. CONFERENCE OF THE MENNONITE BRETHREN CHURCHES
Non-Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
December 31, 2016
(Unaudited)

Operating
Fund

Restricted
Funds 2016 2015

ASSETS
CURRENT

Cash $ 130,702 $ 65,169 $ 195,871 $ 214,864
Accounts and contributions

receivable 45,441 - 45,441 71,436
Recoverable from government

authorities - GST 3,560 - 3,560 16,805
Interfund loan receivable

(payable) (Note 3) (94,166) 94,166 - -
Prepaid expenses 52,843 - 52,843 29,762

138,380 159,335 297,715 332,867

INVESTMENTS - 1,798,546 1,798,546 2,154,657

CAPITAL ASSETS (Note 4) 43,642 - 43,642 10,938

CHURCH PROPERTIES (Note 5) 179,185 - 179,185 -

$ 361,207 $ 1,957,881 $ 2,319,088 $ 2,498,462

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
CURRENT

Accounts payable and
accrued liabilities $ 70,947 $ - $ 70,947 $ 19,755

Due to related parties (Note 6) 56,140 - 56,140 162,985
Deferred revenue 24,173 - 24,173 22,335

151,260 - 151,260 205,075

FUND BALANCES - PAGE 3
Unrestricted 209,947 - 209,947 578,112
Internally restricted (Note 7) - 1,867,357 1,867,357 1,665,138
Externally restricted (Note 7) - 90,524 90,524 50,137

209,947 1,957,881 2,167,828 2,293,387

$ 361,207 $ 1,957,881 $ 2,319,088 $ 2,498,462

CONTINGENT LIABILITY (Note 9), LEASE COMMITMENT (Note 10),
SUBSEQUENT EVENT (Note 11)

APPROVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

_____________________________ Director _____________________________ Director

See non-consolidated notes to financial statements
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THE B.C. CONFERENCE OF THE MENNONITE BRETHREN CHURCHES
Non-Consolidated Statement of Changes in Fund Balances
Year Ended December 31, 2016
(Unaudited)

Operating Restricted
Fund Funds 2016 2015

FUND BALANCES - BEGINNING OF
YEAR $ 578,112 $ 1,715,275 $ 2,293,387 $ 2,922,734
Excess (deficiency) of revenue

over expenses - page 4 (334,060) 29,316 (304,744) (629,347)
Interfund transfers (Note 8) (213,290) 213,290 - -
Recognition of church

properties (Note 5) 179,185 - 179,185 -

FUND BALANCES - END OF
YEAR - PAGE 2 $ 209,947 $ 1,957,881 $ 2,167,828 $ 2,293,387

See non-consolidated notes to financial statements
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THE B.C. CONFERENCE OF THE MENNONITE BRETHREN CHURCHES
Non-Consolidated Statement of Operations
Year Ended December 31, 2016
(Unaudited)

Operating
Fund

Restricted
Funds 2016 2015

(Note 14)

REVENUE
Ministry commitment from

churches $ 1,555,925 $ - $ 1,555,925 $ 1,611,590
Event income 61,177 - 61,177 55,854
MBCC Association - 57,973 57,973 31,178
Recoveries 51,420 - 51,420 55,227
Investment income 47,010 - 47,010 47,001
Donations 7,664 - 7,664 22,756
Fundraising 6,500 - 6,500 11,500
Miscellaneous income 283 - 283 4,778
C2C transition - - - 34,818

1,729,979 57,973 1,787,952 1,874,702

EXPENSES
Ministry partnerships 472,793 - 472,793 494,599
Wages and benefits -

Conference 427,846 - 427,846 362,592
C2C contribution 404,540 - 404,540 1,124,311
Debt contribution 300,000 - 300,000 -
Administration - Conference 165,964 - 165,964 185,824
Event expenses 137,304 - 137,304 129,409
Ministry expenses 62,239 - 62,239 60,000
Church media licenses 32,554 - 32,554 36,108
Training and development 17,653 10,000 27,653 13,441
Other facilities administration 25,304 - 25,304 -
MBCC Association - 18,657 18,657 79,835
Board and committee

expenses 16,277 - 16,277 11,404
Memberships and licenses 1,565 - 1,565 1,941
C2C transition - - - 4,585

2,064,039 28,657 2,092,696 2,504,049

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF
REVENUE OVER EXPENSES
- PAGE 3 $ (334,060) $ 29,316 $ (304,744) $ (629,347)

See non-consolidated notes to financial statements
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THE B.C. CONFERENCE OF THE MENNONITE BRETHREN CHURCHES
Non-Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Year Ended December 31, 2016
(Unaudited)

2016 2015

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
 Deficiency of revenue over expenses - page 4 $ (304,744) $ (629,347)
 Items not affecting cash:

Amortization 6,652 3,196
 Loss on disposal of capital assets 878 -
 Transfer of capital assets to Canadian Conference - 11,719

(297,214) (614,432)

 Changes in non-cash working capital: 
Accounts and contributions receivable 25,995 (20,947)

 Recoverable from government authorities - GST 13,245 (5,955)
 Prepaid expenses (23,081) 15,361

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 51,193 (71,021)
 Deferred revenue 1,838 (2,965)

69,190 (85,527)

 Cash flow used by operating activities (228,024) (699,959)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
 Purchase of capital assets (40,235) (6,188)
 Decrease in loans receivable - 196,500
 Redemption (purchase) of investments 356,111 (80,912)

 Cash flow from investing activities 315,876 109,400

FINANCING ACTIVITY
Advances from (to) related parties (106,845) 67,474

 Cash flow from (used by) financing activity (106,845) 67,474

DECREASE IN CASH FLOW (18,993) (523,085)

Cash - beginning of year 214,864 737,949

CASH - END OF YEAR $ 195,871 $ 214,864

See non-consolidated notes to financial statements
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THE B.C. CONFERENCE OF THE MENNONITE BRETHREN CHURCHES
Non-Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended December 31, 2016
(Unaudited)

1. PURPOSE OF THE ORGANIZATION    

The B.C. Conference of the Mennonite Brethren Churches (the "Conference") exists to join God in
building healthy churches that transform communities with His love and truth. The Conference
operates programs and ministries to assist its local member churches.

The Conference is incorporated under the Societies Act of British Columbia and is a registered
charity under the Income Tax Act and as such is exempt from income taxes.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of presentation

The non-consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with
Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations.

The Conference does not prepare consolidated financial statements for its controlled entity,
Columbia Bible College (Note 6).

These non-consolidated financial statements present only the financial position, changes in fund
balances, results of operations and changes in cash flows for the Conference. Individual member
churches within the Conference account for their own financial position, changes in fund balances,
results of operations and change in cash flows, as well as any assets that may be on title with the
Conference, but for which the churches have beneficial ownership.

Fund accounting

The Conference follows the restricted fund method of accounting for contributions.

The Operating Fund accounts for the operations, administration and capital assets of the
Conference and reports its unrestricted resources. 

The Restricted Funds account for funds externally restricted by contributors to be used for specific
ministries and funds internally restricted by the board of directors for designated purposes

(continues)
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THE B.C. CONFERENCE OF THE MENNONITE BRETHREN CHURCHES
Non-Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended December 31, 2016
(Unaudited)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition

Externally restricted contributions related to general operations are recognized as revenue of the
Operating Fund in the year in which the related expenses are incurred. Externally restricted amounts
can only be used for purposes designated by the contributor. All other externally restricted
contributions are recognized as revenue of the appropriate restricted fund in the year received or
receivable if the amount to be received can be reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably
assured.

Unrestricted contributions and miscellaneous revenue are recognized as revenue of the Operating
Fund when received or receivable if the amount to be received can be reasonably estimated and
collection is reasonably assured.

Investment income is recognized as revenue when earned on an accrual basis.

Event income is recognized as revenue when the events are held.

Recoveries are recognized as revenue when invoiced which typically coincides with payment by the
Conference of the related expense to be recovered. 

Investments

Investments consist of demand deposits, invested with The Canadian Conference of the Mennonite
Brethren Church of North America (related by common membership), that are cashable and bear
interest at 2.00% per annum. The demand depsoits are classified as long term as the funds are not
expected to be used within the next year.

Capital assets and amortization

Capital assets purchased are stated at cost less accumulated amortization. Capital assets
contributed are recorded at the fair value as of the date of receipt. Amortization is provided at
various rates on a straight-line basis designed to amortize the assets over the estimated useful lives.
Half of the regular amortization is taken in the year of addition. The amortization rates are as follows:

Leasehold improvements 6 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Computer equipment 4 years

The Conference regularly reviews its capital assets to remove those no longer in use.

Capital assets acquired during the year but not placed into use are not amortized until they are used
in operations.

Contributed services

Volunteers assist the Conference in carrying out its ministry, programs and operations. Due to the
difficulty in determining their fair value, contributed services are not recognized in the financial
statements.

Deferred revenue

Deferred revenue on recoveries of licenses is amortized over the term of the license agreement.
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A L L W E NEED I N  CHR I S T70

THE B.C. CONFERENCE OF THE MENNONITE BRETHREN CHURCHES
Non-Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended December 31, 2016
(Unaudited)

3. INTERFUND RECEIVABLE (PAYABLE)

The Conference uses its cash balances in the various funds in order to fund its expenses during the
year. The transfer amounts have no specific terms, but are expected to be repaid when the cash is
available. As a result, at December 31, 2016, the Operating Fund owes the Restricted Fund
$94,166.

4. CAPITAL ASSETS        
2016 2015

Accumulated Net book Net book
Cost amortization value value

Leasehold improvements $ 8,858 $ 738 $ 8,120 $ -
Furniture and fixtures 33,614 12,882 20,732 1,799
Computer equipment 23,359 8,569 14,790 9,139

$ 65,831 $ 22,189 $ 43,642 $ 10,938

5. CHURCH PROPERTIES    

During the year several member churches of the Conference ceased activity. As a result, the
beneficial ownership of three related properties returned to the Conference. The properties are held
by the Conference for future congregations and were recorded as a direct increase to the operating
fund.

Although Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit require such assets to be recorded at
carrying value, the Conference is unable to determine the carrying value at the time the member
churches ceased activity. The assets have been included based on available historical cost
information totalling $179,185. The difference between the historical cost and the current carrying
value is not determinable as of the report date.
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THE B.C. CONFERENCE OF THE MENNONITE BRETHREN CHURCHES
Non-Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended December 31, 2016
(Unaudited)

6. RELATED PARTIES        

The following is a summary of amounts due from (to) related parties:

2016 2015

BCMB Bible Camp Society (related by significant
influence) $ 31,068 $ (3,678)

The Pines Bible Camp Association (related by significant
influence) 47,437 (2,890)

Columbia Bible College (controlled organization) (60,630) (66,078)

Canadian Conference of Mennonite Brethren Church
(related by common membership) (65,061) (80,881)

Campfire Ministries (related by significant influence) (3,482) (3,678)

Gardom Lake Bible Camp (related by significant
influence) (2,736) (2,890)

Stillwood Camp and Conference Centre (related by
significant influence) (2,736) (2,890)

$ (56,140) $ (162,985)

The amounts due from (to) related parties are non-interest bearing and have no repayment terms. 

The Conference has significant influence over the following not-for-profit organizations: Campfire
Ministries; Gardom Lake Bible Camp; BCMB Bible Camp Society; Stillwood Camp and Conference
Centre; and The Pines Bible Camp Association.  All these camps are registered charities under the
Income Tax Act.  The Conference has a Camp Ministries Committee, which is responsible for the
camping activities of the camps and provides leadership and direction to the ministries.

(continues)
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A L L W E NEED I N  CHR I S T72

THE B.C. CONFERENCE OF THE MENNONITE BRETHREN CHURCHES
Non-Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended December 31, 2016
(Unaudited)

6. RELATED PARTIES (continued)

Columbia Bible College (the “College”) is a controlled organization that is a registered charity. The
Conference has the authority to elect a majority of the directors of the College. The purpose of the
College is to provide post-secondary education to students from Canada and other parts of the
world.

The relevant financial information provided by the College is audited by another firm of Chartered
Professional Accountants and reported separately up to and including April 30, 2016. The College
utilized the deferral method of accounting for contributions, rather than the restricted fund method
used by the Conference. The College reported $2,566,034 of restricted assets at April 30, 2016
(2015 - $2,732,619).

2016 2015

Total Assets $ 14,248,892 $ 14,885,371
Total Liabilities 11,669,035 12,241,262
Net Assets 2,579,857 2,644,109
Revenue 6,906,182 6,657,155
Expenses 7,001,359 6,584,855

         Cash flow from (used by)
Operating Activities (92,236) 75,915
Financing Activities 30,925 163,342
Investing Activities (60,212) (538,230)

         The restricted assets of the College are as follows:
Deferred operating contributions 990,886 1,156,035
Scholarship endowment principal 980,785 949,860
Programs assisting students 215,701 289,336
Internally restricted - capital reserve 378,662 337,388

(continues)
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THE B.C. CONFERENCE OF THE MENNONITE BRETHREN CHURCHES
Non-Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended December 31, 2016
(Unaudited)

6. RELATED PARTIES (continued)

The following is a summary of the Conferenceʼs related party revenue (expense) transactions:

2016 2015

         Columbia Bible College (controlled organization)
Ministry partnerships - subsidies $ (373,422) $ (392,173)
Ministry partnerships - scholarships (3,426) (1,500)

         Campfire Ministries
(significantly influenced organization)
Ministry partnerships - subsidies (21,783) (22,877)

         BCMB Bible Camp Society
(significantly influenced organization)
Ministry partnerships - subsidies (21,783) (22,877)

         Gardom Lake Bible Camp
(significantly influenced organization)
Ministry partnerships - subsidies (17,115) (17,975)

         Stillwood Camp and Conference Centre
(significantly influenced organization)
Ministry partnerships - subsidies (17,115) (17,975)

         The Pines Bible Camp Association
(significantly influenced organization)
Other facilities administration (17,883) -
Ministry partnerships - subsidies (17,115) (17,975)

         Canadian Conference of the Mennonite Brethren Churches
(related by common membership)
Event revenue 59,167 -
Fundraising 11,500 11,500
Recoveries 8,075 57,240
C2C contribution (414,353) (424,854)
Debt contribution (300,000) -
Event expenses (95,945) -
Administration (32,626) (24,296)
Ministry expenses (1,238) -

11



A L L W E NEED I N  CHR I S T74

THE B.C. CONFERENCE OF THE MENNONITE BRETHREN CHURCHES
Non-Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended December 31, 2016
(Unaudited)

7. RESTRICTED FUNDS          

Opening
Balance Revenue Expenses Transfers

Closing
Balance

(Note 8)

Externally restricted funds consist of:

Camps Bursary
Fund $ 9,659 $ - $ - $ 206 $ 9,865

Chaplaincy Trust
Fund 2,622 - - 57 2,679

Esperenza
Multicultural
Church 9,089 - - 194 9,283

MBCCA 27,993 57,973 18,657 598 67,907
Pastoral Emotional

Health Fund 774 - - 16 790

$ 50,137 $ 57,973 $ 18,657 $ 1,071 $ 90,524

(continues)

12



75

THE B.C. CONFERENCE OF THE MENNONITE BRETHREN CHURCHES
Non-Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended December 31, 2016
(Unaudited)

7. RESTRICTED FUNDS (continued)

Opening
Balance Revenue Expenses Transfers

Closing
Balance

(Note 8)

Internally restricted funds consist of:

BCMB ministry
growth $ 21,253 $ - $ - $ 23,639 $ 44,892

BCMB ministry
support 21,253 - 10,000 23,639 34,892

Camp leadership
bursary 10,000 - - - 10,000

Camp Transition - - - 60,000 60,000
Contingency

reserve 180,029 - - 230,075 410,104
Estate funds with

no designation 118,197 - - (118,197) -
House for all

Nations 333,552 - - 7,122 340,674
Insurance reserve 34,157 - - (34,157) -
Mountain Park

Capital 941,107 - - 20,098 961,205
Training and

seminars 5,590 - - - 5,590

$ 1,665,138 $ - $ 10,000 $ 212,219 $ 1,867,357
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A L L W E NEED I N  CHR I S T76

THE B.C. CONFERENCE OF THE MENNONITE BRETHREN CHURCHES
Non-Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended December 31, 2016
(Unaudited)

8. INTERFUND TRANSFERS    

During the year the following interfund transfers occurred:

$28,290 was transferred from the Operating Fund to the Restricted Funds (various internally
restricted – $27,219; various externally restricted – $1,071) for the interest income earned on funds
held during the year.

$125,000 was transferred from the Operating Fund to the Contingency reserve fund within the
Restricted Funds.

$60,000 was transferred from the Operating Fund to the Restricted Funds to establish a new Camp
transition fund.

In addition, the following transfers occurred within the internally restricted funds:
$34,157 was transferred from the Insurance reserve fund to the Contingency reserve fund.
$70,919 was transferred from the Estate funds with no designation to the Contingency
reserve fund.
$23,639 was transferred from the Estate funds with no designation to the BCMB ministry
growth fund.
$23,639 was transferred from the Estate funds with no designation to the BCMB ministry
support fund.

9. CONTINGENT LIABILITY

The Conference is liable with respect to mortgages for member churches and camps operating
under its Society loaned from the Canadian Conference of Mennonite Brethren Church of North
America in the amount of $16,276,585 (2015 - $17,697,599). The purpose of the loans was to allow
the member churches to acquire land and buildings and for church building construction. The
mortgages are secured by properties in which the Conference has title, but for which beneficial
ownership of the properties resides with the member churches and therefore the related mortgages
are considered to be liabilities of the respective member churches.

Except as explained below none of the loans are in default and the management of the Conference
is of the opinion that the risk to the Conference that it would be required to pay these mortgages is
mitigated by the fair value of the collateral being in excess of the outstanding mortgages.

The property held for the Pines Bible Camp (the “Camp”) has a market value that exceeds the
mortgage amount. Specifically, as at the most recent appraisal date of December 31, 2014 the
property had an appraised value of $1,735,000 whereas the mortgage on the property was $918,617
as at December 31, 2016. The Camp is in arrears in its payments to the mortgagee, the Canadian
Conference of Mennonite Brethren Churches.
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THE B.C. CONFERENCE OF THE MENNONITE BRETHREN CHURCHES
Non-Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended December 31, 2016
(Unaudited)

10. LEASE COMMITMENT      

The Organization has an operating lease with respect to its premises, which expires on December
31, 2019. The Organization also holds an option to renew this lease for an additional three years at a
renegotiated rate.

Future minimum lease payments over the term of the lease are as follows:

2017 $ 37,275
2018 37,275
2019 38,400

11. SUBSEQUENT EVENT     

Subsequent to the year end, the Conference agreed to provide a loan to Pines Bible Camp. The total
principal of the loan provided was $120,145. The loan is non-interest bearing and is expected to be
recovered in monthly payments over the next ten years.

12. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS   

All financial instruments are initially recorded at their fair market value. Publicly traded equity
instruments quoted in an active market are subsequently measured at fair value with any unrealized
gains or losses and transaction costs recognized in net excess of revenue over expenses.  All other
financial instruments are adjusted for any transaction costs incurred on acquisition and are
subsequently measured at their amortized cost. Financial instrument impairments and impairment
reversals are recognized when incurred in net excess of revenue over expenses.

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from the potential that a counter party will fail to perform its obligations.  The
Conference is exposed to credit risk for its investments, accounts and contributions receivable.  The
Conference does not directly hold any collateral as security for its receivables.  Exposures to credit
risk are as follows:

Investments consist of demand deposits all held by a related party that, in managementʼs
view appears financially stable.

Accounts and contributions receivable are non-interest bearing and are generally due within
30 to 60 days of the invoice date.  Management evaluates the credit worthiness of its donors
and regularly reviews the accounts receivable for possible impairments related to collection.
The amount of accounts receivable outstanding over 90 days has decreased from the prior
year, resulting in a decrease in credit risk exposure.

Concentrations of credit risk include:

All investments are held with a related party, which is not a financial institution.  The deposits
are not government guaranteed or insured by the Canada Deposit Insurance Corporation
therefore any financial difficulties encountered by the related party could adversely affect the
collectability and valuation of the investments.

(continues)
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THE B.C. CONFERENCE OF THE MENNONITE BRETHREN CHURCHES
Non-Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended December 31, 2016
(Unaudited)

12. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. The Conference is exposed to interest rate risk for
its investments. Exposure to interest rate risk is as follows:

The demand deposits are fixed savings accounts with set interest rates, therefore market
fluctuations in the prime rate will not affect the related interest revenue.

13. REMUNERATION DISCLOSURE    

As required by the Societies Act of British Columbia, the two highest paid individuals and persons
under a contract for services that each exceeded $75,000 of annual remuneration were paid a total
sum of $190,750.

14. COMPARATIVE FIGURES    

Some of the comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the current year's
presentation. Specifically, the designated donation and restriced funds revenue lines included only
for the purposes of issuing donation receipts on behalf of member organizations have been net
against the related donation expense. Net income remains unchanged.
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NOTES



November 1-3, 2017
Northview Community Church, Abbotsford
equipstudyconference.mennonitebrethren.ca  


